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Management of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. 
(“Brookfield”) is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed by, or under the supervision of, the 
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer 
and effected by the Board of Directors, management 
and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles as defined in Regulation 240.13a-15(f) or 
240.15d-15(f). 

Management assessed the effectiveness of Brookfield’s 
internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2009, based on the criteria set forth in 
Internal Control  –  Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission. Based on this assessment, management 
believes that, as of December 31, 2009, Brookfield’s 
internal control over financial reporting is effective. 
Management excluded from its assessment the internal 
control over financial reporting at Brookfield Ports (UK) 
Ltd. (“PD Ports”), which was acquired during 2009, and 
whose total assets, net assets, total revenues, and net 
income constitute approximately 1%, 1%, nil% and nil% 
respectively of the consolidated financial statement 
amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of 
Brookfield’s internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2009, has been audited by Deloitte 
& Touche LLP Independent Registered Chartered 

Accountants, who also audited Brookfield’s consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2009. As stated in the Report of Independent Registered 
Chartered Accountants, Deloitte & Touche LLP expressed 
an unqualified opinion on Brookfield’s internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009.

Toronto, Canada	 J. Bruce Flatt	 Brian D. Lawson
March 30, 2010	 Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Financial Officer

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Brookfield 
Asset Management Inc.

We have audited the internal control over financial 
reporting of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. and 
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2009, 
based on the criteria established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  
As described in Management’s Report on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting, management excluded 
from its assessment the internal control over financial 
reporting at Brookfield Ports (UK) Ltd. (“PD Ports”) 
which was acquired in November 2009 and whose 
financial statements constitute approximately 1% of net 
and total assets and nil% of revenues and net income of 
the consolidated financial statement amounts as of and 
for the year ended December 31, 2009. Accordingly, our 
audit did not include the internal control over financial 
reporting at PD Ports. The Company’s management is 
responsible for maintaining effective internal control 
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, 
included in the accompanying Management’s Report 
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting based on our 
audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our 
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal 
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that 
a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control 
based on the assessed risk, and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is 
a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the 
company’s principal executive and principal financial 
officers, or persons performing similar functions, 
and effected by the company’s board of directors, 
management, and other personnel to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management 
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the 
company’s assets that could have a material effect on 
the financial statements. 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control 
over financial reporting, including the possibility of 
collusion or improper management override of controls, 
material misstatements due to error or fraud may 
not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the 
internal control over financial reporting to future periods 
are subject to the risk that the controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on the criteria 
established in Internal Control Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission. 

We have also audited, in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards and the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), the consolidated financial statements 
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2009 of the 
Company and our report dated March 30, 2010 expressed 
an unqualified opinion on those financial statements 
and includes a separate report titled Comments by 
Independent Registered Chartered Accountants on 
Canada-United States of America Reporting Differences 
referring to changes in accounting principles. 

Toronto, Canada	    Independent Registered Chartered Accountants

 March 30, 2010	     Licensed Public Accountants

Report of Independent Registered Chartered Accountants
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements and other 
financial information in this Annual Report have been prepared 
by the company’s management which is responsible for their 
integrity, consistency, objectivity and reliability. To fulfill this 
responsibility, the company maintains policies, procedures 
and systems of internal control to ensure that its reporting 
practices and accounting and administrative procedures are 
appropriate to provide a high degree of assurance that relevant 
and reliable financial information is produced and assets are 
safeguarded. These controls include the careful selection and 
training of employees, the establishment of well-defined areas 
of responsibility and accountability for performance and the 
communication of policies and code of conduct throughout 
the company. In addition, the company maintains an internal 
audit group that conducts periodic audits of all aspects of the 
company’s operations. The Chief Internal Auditor has full access 
to the Audit Committee.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles, and where appropriate, reflect estimates based on 
management’s judgment. The financial information presented 
throughout this Annual Report is generally consistent with 
the information contained in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche, LLP, the independent registered chartered 
accountants appointed by the shareholders, have examined the 
consolidated financial statements set out on pages 94 through 
127 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States) to enable them to express to 
the shareholders their opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. Their report is set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been further 
reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors acting through 
its Audit Committee, which is comprised of directors who are 
not officers or employees of the company. The Audit Committee, 
which meets with the auditors and management to review 
the activities of each and reports to the Board of Directors, 
oversees management’s responsibilities for the financial 
reporting and internal control systems. The auditors have full 
and direct access to the Audit Committee and meet periodically 
with the committee both with and without management present 
to discuss their audit and related findings.

Toronto, Canada	 J. Bruce Flatt	 Brian D. Lawson
March 30, 2010	 Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Financial Officer

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Report of independent registered chartered accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Brookfield Asset 
Management Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. and subsidiaries 
(the “Company”) as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 and 
the related consolidated statements of income, retained 
earnings, comprehensive income (loss), accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) and cash flows for the years then 
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). These 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results of 
its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2009, based on the criteria established in Internal 
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our 
report dated March 30, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Toronto, Canada	 Independent Registered Chartered Accountants

March 30, 2010	 Licensed Public Accountants

Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Comments by Independent Registered Chartered Accountants on Canada-
United States of America Reporting Differences
 
The standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) require the addition of an explanatory 
paragraph (following the opinion paragraph) when there are changes in accounting principles that have a material effect 
on the comparability of the Company’s financial statements.  As described in Note 1, the Company has changed its method 
of accounting for intangible assets and deferred costs in 2009 due to the adoption of the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants’ (CICA) Handbook Section 3064, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”. In addition, as described in Note 1, 
the Company has adopted amendments to CICA Handbook Section 3862, “Financial Instruments – Disclosures”, which 
require the Company to make disclosures surrounding fair value financial instruments based on a three-level hierarchy 
that distinguishes between fair values obtained from independent sources versus the Company’s own assumptions about 
market values, and which require the Company to make additional liquidity risk disclosures. Finally, as described in Note 
1, the Company has adopted amendments to CICA Handbook Section 3855, “Financial Instruments – Recognition and 
Measurement”, which clarify the application of Section 3855 with respect to the effective interest method, reclassification 
of financial instruments with embedded derivatives, elimination of the distinction between debt securities and other debt 
instruments, and changes in the categories to which debt instruments are required or are permitted to be classified. 
Although we conducted our audits in accordance with both Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the 
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), our report to the Board of Directors and 
Shareholders, dated March 30, 2010, is expressed in accordance with Canadian reporting standards which do not require 
a reference to such changes in accounting principles in the auditors’ report when the change is properly accounted for 
and adequately disclosed in the financial statements.

Toronto, Canada	 Independent Registered Chartered Accountants
March 30, 2010	 Licensed Public Accountants
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consolidated balance sheets
as at december 31 (Millions) Note 2009 2008

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $� 1,375 $� 1,242
Financial assets 3 2,373 2,071
Loans and notes receivable 4 1,796 2,061
Investments 5 1,924 890
Accounts receivable and other 6 8,605 6,925
Intangible assets 7 1,822 1,632
Goodwill 2 2,343 2,011
Property, plant and equipment 8 41,664 36,765

$� 61,902 $� 53,597

Liabilities
Corporate borrowings 9 $� 2,593 $� 2,284
Non-recourse borrowings

Property-specific mortgages 10 26,731 24,398
Subsidiary borrowings 10 3,663 3,593

Accounts payable and other liabilities 11 10,017 8,904
Intangible liabilities 12 741 891
Capital securities 13 1,641 1,425

Non-controlling interests 14 8,969 6,321
Shareholders’ equity

Preferred equity 15 1,144 870
Common equity 16 6,403 4,911

$� 61,902 $� 53,597

On behalf of the Board:

Robert J. Harding, FCA, Director	 Marcel R. Coutu, Director
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Consolidated statements of income
Years ended December 31 (Millions, Except Per Share Amounts) Note 2009 2008

Total revenues $� 12,082 $� 12,909
Fees earned 298 289
Revenues less direct operating costs 20

Renewable power generation 1,138 886
Commercial properties 1,770 1,831
Infrastructure 109 196
Development activities 329 166
Special situations 119 304

3,763 3,672
Investment and other income 752 944

4,515 4,616
Expenses

Interest 1,784 1,984
Operating costs 393 406
Current income taxes 22 (4) (7)
Non-controlling interests in net income before the following 21 892 810

1,450 1,423
Other items

Depreciation and amortization (1,275) (1,330)
Provisions and other (370) (342)
Future income taxes 22 (24) 461
Non-controlling interests in the foregoing items 21 673 437

Net income $� 454 $� 649

Net income per common share 16
Diluted $� 0.71 $� 1.02
Basic $� 0.72 $� 1.04
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Consolidated statements of retained earnings
Years ended December 31 (Millions) Note 2009 2008

Retained earnings, beginning of year $� 4,361 $� 4,867
Change in accounting policies 1(m) — (11)
Net income 454 649
Preferred equity issue costs (8) —
Shareholder distributions  –  preferred equity (43) (44)

	 –  common equity (298) (843)
Amount paid in excess of book value
     of common shares purchased for cancellation (15) (257)

$� 4,451 $� 4,361

Consolidated statements of comprehensive income (Loss)
Years ended December 31 (Millions) Note 2009 2008

Net income $� 454 $� 649
Other comprehensive income (loss) 3

Foreign currency translation 1,124 (780)
Available-for-sale securities 162 (277)
Derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges 93 (45)
Future income taxes on above items (4) (113)

1,375 (1,215)

Comprehensive income (loss) $� 1,829 $� (566)

Consolidated statements of accumulated other comprehensive income (Loss)
Years ended December 31 (Millions) 2009 2008

Balance, beginning of year $� (770) $� 445
Other comprehensive income (loss) 1,375 (1,215)

Balance, end of year $� 605 $� (770)
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Consolidated statements of cash flows
Years Ended December 31 (Millions) Note 2009 2008

Operating activities

Net income $� 454 $� 649
Adjusted for the following non-cash items

Depreciation and amortization 1,275 1,330
Future income taxes, provisions and other 394 (119)
Realization gains (413) (164)
Non-controlling interest in non-cash items 21 (673) (437)

1,037 1,259
Net change in non-cash working capital balances and other (519) (234)
Undistributed non-controlling interests in cash flows 657 587

1,175 1,612
Financing activities

Corporate borrowings, net of repayments 25 106 333
Property-specific borrowings, net of issuances 25 (687) (1,138)
Other debt of subsidiaries, net of issuances 25 (382) (384)
Capital securities issuance — 143
Corporate preferred equity issuance 266 —
Preferred shares of subsidiaries issuances 261 —
Common shares repurchased, net of issuances 25 (4) (249)
Common shares of subsidiaries issued, net of repurchases 2,125 516
Shareholder distributions (341) (342)

1,344 (1,121)
Investing activities

Investment in or sale of operating assets, net
Renewable power generation 25 (195) (529)
Commercial properties 25 (629) (502)
Infrastructure 25 (906) 361
Development activities 25 (139) (124)
Loans and notes receivable 25 150 (159)
Financial assets 25 (258) 604
Investments (13) (187)
Restricted cash and deposits (206) (45)
Other property, plant and equipment (190) (229)

(2,386) (810)
Cash and cash equivalents

Increase/(decrease) 133 (319)
Balance, beginning of year 1,242 1,561

Balance, end of year $� 1,375 $� 1,242
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1.	S ummary of accounting policies
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”) as prescribed by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”).

(a)	B asis of Presentation
All currency amounts are in United States dollars (“U.S. dollars”) unless otherwise stated. The consolidated 
financial statements include the accounts of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (the “company”) and the 
entities over which it has voting control, as well as Variable Interest Entities (“VIEs”) for which the company 
is considered to be the primary beneficiary.

The company accounts for investments over which it exercises significant influence, however does not 
control, using the equity method. Interests in jointly controlled partnerships and corporate joint ventures 
are proportionately consolidated. Measurement of investments in which the company does not have 
significant influence depends on the financial instrument classification.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant 
estimates are required in the determination of cash flows and probabilities in assessing net recoverable 
amounts and net realizable values, tax and other provisions, hedge effectiveness, and fair values.

(b)	R eporting Currency
The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of the company’s head office operations and the U.S. dollar is 
the company’s reporting currency.

The accounts of self-sustaining subsidiaries having a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar are 
translated using the current rate method. Gains or losses on translation are deferred and included in 
other comprehensive income in the cumulative translation adjustment account. Gains or losses on foreign 
currency denominated balances and transactions that are designated as hedges of net investments in 
these subsidiaries are reported in the same manner.

Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities of the company and integrated subsidiaries 
are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at year end and revenues and expenses at average 
rates during the year. Gains or losses on translation of these items are included in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. Gains or losses on transactions which hedge these items are also included in 
the Consolidated Statements of Income. Gains or losses on translation of foreign currency denominated  
available-for-sale financial instruments are included in other comprehensive income.

(c)	C ash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and are highly liquid short-term 
investments with original maturities less than 90 days.

(d)	P roperty, Plant and Equipment
(i)	 Renewable Power Generation
Power generating facilities are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation on power 
generating facilities and equipment is provided at various rates on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
service lives of the assets, which are up to 60 years for hydroelectric generation assets.

Power generating facilities under development are recorded at cost, including pre-development expenditures, 
unless an impairment is identified requiring a write-down to estimated fair value.

(ii)	 Commercial Properties
Commercial Properties consist of commercial properties held for investment and commercial development 
activities. Commercial properties held for investment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
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Depreciation on buildings is provided during the year on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of the properties to a maximum of 60 years. Depreciation is determined with reference to the carrying 
value, remaining estimated useful life and residual value of each property. Tenant improvements and re-
leasing costs are deferred and amortized over the lives of the leases to which they relate. Commercial 
development activities are recorded at cost, including pre-development expenditures, unless an impairment 
is identified requiring a write-down to estimated fair value. 

CICA Handbook EIC-140, Accounting for Operating Leases Acquired in either an Asset Acquisition or a 
Business Combination and CICA Handbook EIC-137, Recognition of Customer Relationships Acquired in 
a Business Combination require that when a company acquires real estate in either an asset acquisition 
or business combination, a portion of the purchase price should be allocated to the in-place leases to 
reflect the intangible amounts of leasing costs, above or below market tenant and land leases, and tenant 
relationship values, if any. These intangible costs are amortized over their respective lease terms.

(iii)	 Infrastructure

Infrastructure consists of Timberlands, Utilities and Energy assets, and Transportation assets.

�(a) Timberlands: Timber assets are carried at cost, less accumulated depletion. Depletion of timber 
assets is determined based on the number of cubic metres of timber harvested annually at a fixed 
rate.

�(b) Utilities and Energy:  Utilities and energy assets are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. 
Depreciation is provided at various rates on a straight-line basis over the estimated service lives of 
the assets, which are up to 40 years.

�(c) Transportation: Transportation assets are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. 
Depreciation on transportation assets is determined on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
service lives of the assets, which is up to 35 years.

(iv)	 Development Activities 
Development activities consist of residential properties, residential land, and residential properties which 
are under construction. These properties are recorded at cost, including pre-development expenditures. 
Homes and other properties held for sale, which include properties subject to sale agreements, are 
recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Income received relating to homes and other 
properties held for sale is applied against the carried value of these properties. Costs are allocated to the 
saleable acreage of each project or subdivision in proportion to the anticipated revenue. Also included in 
development activities are real estate opportunity investments which are depreciated over the estimated 
useful lives of the properties.

(v)	 Financial Assets and Investments
Financial assets are designated as either held-for-trading or available-for-sale and are recorded at fair 
value, with changes in fair value accounted for in net income or other comprehensive income as applicable. 
Equity instruments, designated as available-for-sale financial assets, that do not have a quoted market 
price from an active market are carried at cost.

Investments include investments in the securities of affiliates and are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting.

Provisions are established in instances where, in the opinion of management, the carrying values of financial 
assets classified as available-for-sale and investments have been other than temporarily impaired.

(vi)	 Loans and Notes Receivable
Loans and notes receivable are recorded initially at their fair value and, with the exception of receivables 
designated as held-for-trading, are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, less any applicable provision for impairment. A provision for impairment is established when 
there is objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 
original terms of the receivables. Loans and notes receivable designated as held-for-trading are recorded 
at fair value with changes in fair value accounted for in net income in the period in which they arise. 
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(e)	A sset Impairment
For assets other than financial assets, investments, and loans and notes receivable, a write-down to 
estimated fair value is recognized if the estimated undiscounted future cash flows from an asset or group 
of assets are less than their carried value. The projections of future cash flows take into account the 
relevant operating plans and management’s best estimate of the most probable set of economic conditions 
anticipated to prevail in the market.

(f)	A ccounts Receivable and Other
Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method, less any allowance for uncollectibility. Included in accounts receivable and 
other are restricted cash and inventories which are carried at the lower of average cost and net realizable 
value and materials and supplies which are valued at the lower of average cost and replacement cost.

(g)	I ntangible Assets and Liabilities
Intangible assets and liabilities with a finite life are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives, generally not exceeding 20 years, and are tested for impairment when conditions exist which 
may indicate that the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows from the asset are less than its 
carrying amount.

(h)	G oodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the price paid for the acquisition of a consolidated entity over the fair 
value of the net identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired.

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment annually, or more often if events or circumstances indicate there may 
be an impairment. If the carrying value of a subsidiary, including the allocated goodwill, exceeds its fair 
value, goodwill impairment is measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the subsidiary’s allocated 
goodwill over the implied fair value of the goodwill, based on the fair value of the assets and liabilities of 
the subsidiary. Any goodwill impairment is charged to income in the period in which the impairment is 
identified.

(i)	R evenue and Expense Recognition
(i)	 Asset Management Fee Income
Revenues from performance-based incentive fees are recorded on the accrual basis based upon the amount 
that would be due under the incentive fee formula at the end of the measurement period established by the 
contract where it is no longer subject to adjustment based on future events. In some cases this will require 
that the recognition of performance-based incentive fees be deferred to the end, or towards the end of the 
contract at which point performance can be more accurately measured.

(ii)	 Renewable Power Generation
Revenue from the sale of electricity is recorded at the time power is provided based upon output delivered 
and capacity provided at rates specified under contract terms or prevailing market rates.

(iii)	 Commercial Property Operations
Revenue from a commercial property is recognized upon the earlier of attaining a break-even point in cash 
flow after debt servicing, or the expiration of a reasonable period of time, not to exceed one year, following 
substantial completion. Prior to this, the property is categorized as a property under development, and 
related revenue is applied to reduce development costs.

The company has retained substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of its rental properties 
and therefore accounts for leases with its tenants as operating leases. The total amount of contractual 
rent to be received from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease; a 
straight-line or free rent receivable, as applicable is recorded for the difference between the rental revenue 
recorded and the contractual amount received. Rental revenue includes percentage participating rents and 
recoveries of operating expenses, including property, capital and similar taxes. Percentage participating 
rents are recognized when tenants’ specified sales targets have been met. Operating expense recoveries 
are recognized in the period that recoverable costs are chargeable to tenants.
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Revenue from commercial land sales is recognized at the time that the risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred, possession or title passes to the purchaser, all material conditions of the sales 
contract have been met, and a significant cash down payment or appropriate security is received.

(iv)	 Infrastructure

	� (a) Timberlands:  Revenue from timberlands is derived from the sale of logs and related products. The 
company recognizes sales to external customers when the product is shipped and title passes, and 
collectibility is reasonably assured.

	� (b) Utilities and Energy:  Revenue from utilities and energy assets is derived from the transmission and 
distribution of electricity to industrial and retail customers. Revenue is recognized at contracted 
rates when the electricity is delivered, and as collectibility is reasonably assured.

	 �(c) Transportation:  Revenue from transportation infrastructure is derived from assets such as seaports 
and rail networks and consists primarily of terminal charges, handling charges and freight services 
revenue. Terminal charges are charged at set contracted rates per tonne of coal shipped. Handling 
charges and freight services revenue are recognized at the time of the provision of services. 

(v)	 Development Activities
Revenue from residential land sales is recognized at the time that the risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred, possession or title passes to the purchaser, all material conditions of the sales contract 
have been met, and a significant cash down payment or appropriate security is received.

Revenue from the sale of homes is recognized when title passes to the purchaser upon closing and at 
which time all proceeds are received or collectibility is assured.

Revenue from the sale of condominium units is recognized using the percentage-of-completion method 
at the time that construction is beyond a preliminary stage, sufficient units are sold and all proceeds are 
received or collectibility is assured.

Revenue from construction projects is recognized by the percentage-of-completion method at the time 
that construction is beyond a preliminary stage, there are indications that the work will be completed 
according to plan and all proceeds are received or collectibility is assured.

(vi)	 Financial Assets and Loans and Notes Receivable
Revenue from financial assets, loans and notes receivable, less a provision for uncollectible amounts, is 
recorded on the accrual basis.

(vii)	 Other
The net proceeds recorded under reinsurance contracts are accounted for as deposits until a reasonable 
possibility that the company may realize a significant loss from the insurance risk does not exist.

(j)	D erivative Financial Instruments
The company and its subsidiaries selectively utilize derivative financial instruments primarily to manage 
financial risks, including interest rate, commodity and foreign exchange risks. Hedge accounting is applied 
when the derivative is designated as a hedge of a specific exposure and there is reasonable assurance that 
it will continue to be effective as a hedge based on an expectation of offsetting cash flows or fair value. 
Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the derivative no longer qualifies as a hedge or the 
hedging relationship is terminated. Once discontinued, the cumulative change in fair value of a derivative 
that was previously deferred by the application of hedge accounting is recognized in income over the 
remaining term of the original hedging relationship. Balances in respect of unrealized mark-to-market 
gains or losses on derivative financial instruments are recorded in Accounts Receivable and Other or 
Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities. 

(i)	 Items Designated as Hedges
Realized and unrealized gains and losses on foreign exchange forward contracts and currency swap 
contracts designated as hedges of currency risks are included in other comprehensive income when the 
currency risk relates to a net investment in a self-sustaining subsidiary and are otherwise included in 
income in the same period as when the underlying asset, liability or anticipated transaction affects income. 
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Unrealized gains and losses on interest rate forward and swap contracts designated as hedges of 
future interest payments are included in other comprehensive income when the interest rate risk relates 
to anticipated interest payments. Unrealized gains and losses on interest rate swaps carried to offset 
corresponding changes in the values of assets and cash flow streams that are not reflected in the 
consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2009 and 2008 are recorded in other comprehensive 
income. The periodic exchanges of payments on interest rate swap contracts designated as hedges of debt 
are recorded on an accrual basis as adjustments to interest expense. The periodic exchanges of payments 
on interest rate contracts designated as hedges of future interest payments are amortized into income 
over the term of the corresponding interest payments. 

Unrealized gains and losses on electricity forward and swap contracts designated as hedges of future power 
generation revenue are included in other comprehensive income. The periodic exchanges of payments on 
power generation commodity swap contracts designated as hedges are recorded on a settlement basis as 
an adjustment to power generation revenue. 

(ii)	 Items not Designated as Hedges
Derivative financial instruments that are not designated as hedges are carried at estimated fair value, and 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in income in the period the changes 
occur. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on equity derivatives used to offset the change in share 
prices in respect of vested Deferred Share Units and Restricted Share Appreciation Units are recorded 
together with the corresponding compensation expense. Realized and unrealized gains or losses on other 
derivatives not designated as hedges are recorded in Investment and Other Income.

(k)	I ncome Taxes
The company uses the asset and liability method whereby future income tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based on differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities, 
and measured using the tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to 
reverse.

(l)	O ther Items
(i)	 Capitalized Costs
Capitalized costs on assets under development and redevelopment include all expenditures incurred in 
connection with the acquisition, development and construction of the asset until it is available for its 
intended use. These expenditures consist of costs and interest on debt that are related to these assets. 
Ancillary income relating specifically to such assets during the development period is treated as a 
reduction of costs.

(ii)	 Pension Benefits and Employee Future Benefits
The costs of retirement benefits for defined benefit plans and post-employment benefits are recognized as 
the benefits are earned by employees. The company uses the accrued benefit method pro-rated using the 
length of service and management’s best estimate assumptions to value its pension and other retirement 
benefits. Assets are valued at fair value for purposes of calculating the expected return on plan assets. For 
defined contribution plans, the company expenses amounts as paid into the plans.

(iii)	 Liabilities and Equity
Financial instruments that must or could be settled by a variable number of the company’s common shares 
upon their conversion by the holders as well as the related accrued distributions are classified as liabilities 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets under the caption “Capital Securities” and are translated into U.S. 
dollars at period end rates. Dividends on these instruments are classified as Interest expense.

(iv)	 Asset Retirement Obligations
Obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets are recorded as liabilities when 
those obligations are incurred, with the amount of the liabilities initially measured at fair value. These 
obligations are capitalized to the book value of the related long-lived assets and are depreciated over the 
useful life of the related asset.
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(v)	 Stock-Based Compensation
The company and most of its consolidated subsidiaries account for stock options using the fair value 
method whereby compensation expense for stock options is determined based on the fair value at the 
grant date using an option pricing model and charged to income over the vesting period. The company’s 
publicly traded U.S. and Brazilian homebuilding subsidiaries record the liability and expense of stock 
options based on their intrinsic value using variable plan accounting, reflecting differences in how these 
plans operate. Under this method, vested options are revalued each reporting period, and any change in 
value is included in income.

(m)	C hanges in Accounting Policies Adopted
(i)   Goodwill and Intangible Assets
In February 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, replacing 
Handbook Sections 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and 3450, Research and Development Costs. 
Various changes have been made to other sections of the CICA Handbook for consistency purposes. 
Section 3064 establishes standards for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
goodwill subsequent to the initial recognition of intangible assets by profit-oriented enterprises. The new 
section became effective for the company on January 1, 2009, and consistent with transition provisions in 
Section 3064, the company has adopted the new standard retrospectively with restatement. The impact of 
adopting this new standard was a $7 million reduction of opening retained earnings as at January 1, 2008.

(ii)	 Financial Instruments 
In January 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee issued Abstract No. 173, Credit Risk and the Fair Value 
of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (“EIC-173”). EIC-173 requires an entity to determine the fair 
value of all financial instruments, including derivative instruments by taking into account the credit risk 
of the instrument. In particular, an entity is required to factor into fair value its own credit risk in addition 
to the credit risk of the counterparties to the instrument. EIC-173, which was effective for the company 
on January 1, 2009, did not have a material impact to the company’s financial statements and the related 
disclosures.

In June 2009, the CICA issued amendments to Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures to provide 
improvements to fair value disclosures to align with disclosure rules established under United States 
GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The new rules result in enhanced fair 
value disclosure and require entities to assess the reliability and objectivity of the inputs used in measuring 
fair value. All financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value must be classified into one of three 
levels of a fair value hierarchy as follows: Level 1) unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical 
instruments; Level 2) inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly; and Level  3) inputs based on unobservable market data. The new disclosures are 
included in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. This section has also been amended to require 
additional liquidity risk disclosures which are included in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

On August 20, 2009, the CICA issued amendments to Section 3855, Financial Instruments – Recognition 
and Measurement to align with IFRS. The amendments include: 1) changing the categories into which debt 
instruments are required and permitted to be classified; 2) changing the impairment model for held-to-
maturity instruments; and 3) requiring the reversal of impairment losses relating to available-for-sale debt 
instruments when the fair value of the debt instrument increases in a subsequent period. The impact of 
adopting this standard was a reclassification of debt securities from available-for-sale bonds to loans and 
notes receivables which resulted in a $28 million increase to financial assets, and a $28 million increase to 
accumulated other comprehensive income.

(iii)	 Inventories
In June 2007, the CICA issued Section 3031, Inventories, replacing Section 3030, Inventories. This standard 
provides guidance on the determination of the cost of inventories and subsequent recognition as an 
expense, including any write-down to net realizable value. This new standard became effective for the 
company on January  1, 2008. The impact of adopting this new standard was a $4  million reduction of 
opening retained earnings as at January 1, 2008.
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(n)	F uture Changes in Accounting Policies
(i)   Business Combinations, Consolidated Financial Statements and Non-controlling Interests
In January 2009, the CICA issued three new accounting standards, Section 1582, “Business Combinations,” 
Section 1601, “Consolidated Financial Statements” and Section 1602, “Non-controlling Interests.” Section 
1582 provides clarification as to what an acquirer must measure when it obtains control of a business, the 
basis of valuation and the date at which the valuation should be determined. Acquisition-related costs 
must be accounted for as expenses in the periods they are incurred, except for costs incurred to issue debt 
or share capital. This new standard will be applicable for acquisitions completed on or after November 
1, 2011 although adoption in 2010 is permitted to facilitate the transition to IFRS in 2011. Section 1601 
establishes standards for preparing consolidated financial statements after the acquisition date and 
Section 1602 establishes standards for the accounting and presentation of non-controlling interest. These 
standards must be adopted concurrently with Section 1582.

(ii)   International Financial Reporting Standards
The Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) confirmed in February 2008 that IFRS will replace GAAP for 
publicly accountable enterprises for financial periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The company 
applied to the Canadian Securities Administrators (“CSA”) and was granted exemptive relief to prepare 
its financial statements in accordance with IFRS earlier than required and intends to do so for periods 
beginning January 1, 2010, preparing its first interim financial statements in accordance with IFRS for the 
three month period ending March 31, 2010. 

2.	A cquisitions of consolidated entities
The company accounts for business combinations using the purchase method of accounting which 
establishes specific criteria for the recognition of intangible assets separately from goodwill. The cost 
of acquiring a business is allocated to its identifiable tangible and intangible assets and liabilities on the 
basis of the estimated fair values at the date of purchase with any excess allocated to goodwill.  

(a)	C ompleted During 2009
In the fourth quarter of 2009, the company increased its infrastructure investments by sponsoring the 
recapitalization of Babcock & Brown Infrastructure (the “BBI Transaction”). As part of the transaction, 
the company made direct and indirect investments in utility and transportation operations. The company 
acquired control of, and began consolidating Brookfield Ports (UK) Ltd. (“PD Ports”), a large port operator 
in the United Kingdom (“UK”). 

Also in the fourth quarter of 2009, the company increased its 22% interest in the Multiplex Prime Property 
Fund (“MAFCA”) to 68%. As a result, the company ceased equity accounting for its investment and 
commenced consolidation. MAFCA is a listed unit trust and owns commercial properties in Australia.

The company also acquired $28 million of net assets which relate to its commercial property and timber 
operations.

The following table summarizes the balance sheet impact of significant acquisitions in 2009 that resulted 
in consolidation accounting:

(Millions) PD Ports MAFCA Other Total

Cash, accounts receivable and other $� 51 $� 7 $� 12 $� 70
Intangible assets 306 — — 306
Property, plant and equipment 435 193 35 663
Investments — 339 — 339
Non-recourse and corporate borrowings (392) (425) — (817)
Accounts payable and other liabilities (140) (27) (19) (186)
Future income tax liability (96) — — (96)
Non-controlling interests in net assets (102) (56) — (158)

$� 62 $� 31 $� 28 $� 121

(b)	C ompleted During 2008
During the first quarter of 2008, the company increased its ownership interest in Brookfield Real Estate 
Finance Partners (“BREF I”) to 33%. As a result, the company began to consolidate BREF I under the VIE 
rules. BREF I originates high quality real estate finance investments on a leveraged basis.
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The company completed the acquisition of Itiquira Energetica S.A. (“Itiquira”) during the second quarter 
of 2008. Itiquira owns and operates a 156 megawatt hydroelectric facility located on the Itiquira River in 
Mato Grosso, Brazil.

During the second quarter of 2008, the company acquired MB Engenharia S.A. (“MB”). MB’s operations 
include land development and homebuilding in the middle and middle-low segments throughout Brazil.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, a subsidiary of the company merged with Company S.A. (“Company”), 
decreasing Brookfield’s ownership in the consolidated entity. Company’s operations include land 
development and residential.

In December 2008, the company increased its ownership interest in Norbord Inc. (“Norbord”) from 36% 
to 60% through the purchase of 99 million common shares and 50 million warrants issued as a result of 
a rights offering. As a result of the increase in ownership, the company ceased equity accounting for its 
investment in Norbord and commenced consolidating Norbord. Norbord is an international producer of 
wood-based panels and oriented strand board. 

In addition, the company also acquired $222  million of net assets which primarily relate to its timber, 
residential, retail mall and power generation operations.

The following table summarizes the balance sheet impact of the significant acquisitions in 2008:

(Millions) BREF I Itiquira MB Company Norbord Other Total

Cash, accounts receivable and other $� 1,389 $� 67 $� 212 $� 396 $� 127 $� 8 $� 2,199
Intangible assets — — — — — 28 28
Goodwill — — 57 172 — 13 242
Property, plant and equipment — 436 246 181 791 477 2,131
Non-recourse and corporate borrowings (977) (44) (277) (418) (507) (108) (2,331)
Accounts payable and other liabilities (134) (7) (174) (45) (160) (21) (541)
Future income tax asset (liability) — (59) 6 — (73) (4) (130)
Non-controlling interests in net assets (246) — (41) (165) (106) (171) (729)

$� 32 $� 393 $� 29 $� 121 $� 72 $� 222 $� 869

3.	F air value of financial instruments
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount of consideration that would be agreed upon in an 
arm’s-length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. Fair 
values are determined by reference to quoted bid or ask prices, as appropriate, in the most advantageous 
active market for that instrument to which the company has immediate access. Where bid and ask prices 
are unavailable, the closing price of the most recent transaction of that instrument is used. In the absence 
of an active market, fair values are determined based on prevailing market rates (bid and ask prices, as 
appropriate) for instruments with similar characteristics and risk profiles or internal or external valuation 
models, such as option pricing models and discounted cash flow analysis, using observable market inputs.

Fair values determined using valuation models require the use of assumptions concerning the amount and 
timing of estimated future cash flows and discount rates. In determining those assumptions, the company 
looks primarily to external readily observable market inputs such as interest rate yield curves, currency 
rates, and price and rate volatilities as applicable. The fair value of interest rate swap contracts which 
form part of financing arrangements is calculated by way of discounted cash flows using market interest 
rates and applicable credit spreads. In limited circumstances, the company uses input parameters that 
are not based on observable market data and believes that using alternative assumptions will not result in 
significantly different fair values. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
Financial instruments classified or designated as held-for-trading or available-for-sale are carried at fair 
value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets except for equity instruments designated as available-for-sale 
that do not have a quoted price from an active market, which are carried at cost. The carrying amount of 
available-for-sale financial assets that do not have a quoted price from an active market was $158 million 
at December 31, 2009 (2008 – $143 million). Changes in the fair values of financial instruments classified 
as held-for-trading and available-for-sale are recognized in Net Income and Other Comprehensive 
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Income, respectively. The cumulative changes in the fair values of available-for-sale securities previously 
recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income are reclassified to Net Income when the 
security is sold or there is a decline in value that is considered to be other-than-temporary. During the 
year ended December 31, 2009, $29 million of net deferred losses (2008 – $26 million) previously recognized 
in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income were reclassified to Net Income as a result of a sale or a 
determination that a decline in value was an other-than-temporary impairment.

Available-for-sale securities measured at fair value or cost are assessed for impairment at each reporting 
date. As at December  31,  2009, unrealized gains and losses in the fair values of available-for-sale 
financial instruments measured at fair value amounted to $84 million (2008 – $25 million) and $59 million 
(2008 – $169 million) respectively. Unrealized gains and losses for debt and equity securities are primarily 
due to changing interest rates, market prices and foreign exchange movements. 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of held-for-trading financial assets are presented 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income, within Investment and Other Income, in the period in which 
they arise. Dividends on held-for-trading and available-for-sale financial assets are recognized in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income as part of Investment and Other Income when the company’s right 
to receive payment is established. Interest on available-for-sale financial assets is calculated using the 
effective interest method and recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income as part of Investment 
and Other Income. 

Carrying Value and Fair Value of Selected Financial Instruments
The following table provides a comparison of the carrying values and fair values for selected financial 
instruments as at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008.

 2009 2008

Financial Instrument Classification

Held-for-

Trading Available-for-Sale

Held-to-

Maturity

Loans 

Receivable 

/ Payable 

and Other 

Liabilities Total Total 

Measurement Basis (Millions)

(Fair 

Value)

(Fair 

Value) (Cost)

(Amortized 

Cost)

(Carrying 

Value) (Fair Value)

(Carrying 

Value) (Fair Value)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  $� 1,375 $� — $� — $� — $� —  $� 1,375 $�  1,375 $� 1,242  $� 1,242 
Financial assets

Government bonds  109  451 — — —  560  560  557  557 
Corporate bonds  621 308 — — 89  1,018 990  573  573 
Fixed income securities  4  309 — — —  313  313  431 431
Common shares  36 152  158 — —  346 664  336  639 
Loans receivable — — — — 136 136 136 174 174

Loans and notes receivable —     — — 1,560  236  1,796  1,703  2,061  1,596 
Accounts receivable and other1  1,029 — — —  3,876  4,905  4,905  3,666  3,666 

Total $� 3,174 $� 1,220 $� 158 $� 1,560 $� 4,337 $� 10,449 $� 10,646 $� 9,040 $� 8,878
Financial liabilities

Corporate borrowings $� — $� — $� — $� — $� 2,593 $� 2,593 $� 2,659 $� 2,284 $� 2,144
Property-specific mortgages — — — — 26,731 26,731 26,236 24,398 23,885
Subsidiary borrowings — — — — 3,663 3,663 3,666 3,593 3,354
Accounts payable and other  
     liabilities1 674 — — — 7,689 8,363 8,363 7,441 7,441
Capital securities — — — — 1,641 1,641 1,632 1,425 1,293

$� 674 $� — $� — $� — $� 42,317 $� 42,991 $� 42,556 $� 39,141 $� 38,117

1.	�I ncludes $292 million of Accounts Receivable and Other and $424 million of Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities which are elected for hedge accounting

Hedging Activities
The company uses derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments to manage or maintain exposures 
to interest, currency, credit and other market risks. When derivatives are used to manage exposures, 
the company determines for each derivative whether hedge accounting can be applied. Where hedge 
accounting can be applied, a hedge relationship is designated as a fair value hedge, a cash flow hedge or 
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a hedge of foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a self-sustaining foreign operation. To qualify 
for hedge accounting the derivative must be highly effective in accomplishing the objective of offsetting 
changes in the fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk both at inception and over the life 
of the hedge. If it is determined that the derivative is not highly effective as a hedge, hedge accounting is 
discontinued prospectively.

Cash Flow Hedges
The company uses the following cash flow hedges: energy derivative contracts primarily to hedge the 
sale of power; interest rate swaps to hedge the variability in cash flows related to a variable rate asset or 
liability; and equity derivatives to hedge the long-term compensation arrangements. All components of each 
derivative’s change in fair value have been included in the assessment of cash flow hedge effectiveness. 
For the year ended December 31, 2009, pre-tax net unrealized gains of $100 million (2008 – $3 million) were 
recorded in Other Comprehensive Income for the effective portion of the cash flow hedges. 

Net Investment Hedges
The company uses foreign exchange contracts and foreign currency denominated debt instruments to 
manage its foreign currency exposures to net investments in self-sustaining foreign operations having a 
functional currency other than the U.S. dollar. For the year ended December 31, 2009, unrealized pre-tax 
net losses of $251 million (2008 – gains of $285 million) were recorded in Other Comprehensive Income for 
the effective portion of hedges of net investments in self-sustaining foreign operations.

Financial Instrument Disclosures
In June 2009, the CICA issued amendments to its Financial Instruments Disclosure standard to expand 
disclosures of financial instruments measured at fair value consistent with new disclosure requirements 
made under IFRS. Fair value hierarchical levels that are directly determined by the amount of subjectivity 
associated with the valuation inputs of these assets and liabilities, are as follows:

Level 1 – Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the 
measurement date. 

Level 2 – Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level 1) are either directly or indirectly observable 
for the asset or liability through correlation with market data at the measurement date and for the duration 
of the instrument’s anticipated life. Fair valued assets and liabilities that are included in this category are 
interest rate swap contracts and other derivative contracts.

Level 3 – Inputs reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing 
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation 
technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to determining the estimate. Fair valued assets and liabilities 
that are included in this category are power purchase contracts, subordinated mortgaged-backed 
securities, interest rate swap contracts, and other derivative contracts.  
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis include $604 million (2008 – $452 million) 
of financial assets and $410 million (2008 – $381 million) of financial liabilities which are measured at fair 
value using valuation inputs based on management’s best estimates. The table below categorizes financial 
assets and liabilities, which are carried at fair value, based upon the level of input to the valuations as 
described above:

2009 2008

(millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $� 1,375 $� — $� — $� 1,375 $� 1,242

Financial assets
  Government bonds  190  370 —  560 557
  Corporate bonds  508  398  23 929 573
  Fixed income securities 38 —  275  313 431
  Common shares 133 55 — 188 193
Accounts receivable and other  723 — 306 1,029 610

Total �$� 2,967 $� 823 $� 604 $� 4,394 $� 3,606

Financial liabilities  
Accounts payable and other liabilities $� 97 $� 167 $�  410 $�  674 $� 371

 Total $�  97 $� 167 $� 410 $� 674 $� 371

4.	   LOANS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE
Loans and notes receivable include corporate loans, bridge loans and other loans, either advanced directly 
or acquired in the secondary market.

The fair value of the company’s loans and notes receivable at December 31, 2009 is below the carrying 
value by $93 million (2008 – $465 million) based on expected future cash flows, discounted at market rates 
for assets with similar terms and investment risks.

The loans and notes receivable mature over the next seven years (2008  –  eight years), with an average 
maturity of approximately one  year (2008  –  one year) and include fixed rate loans totalling $94  million 
(2008 – $107 million) with an average yield of 7.7% (2008 – 7.4%).

The company acquired the underlying assets of two real estate loans receivable and recorded a $12 million 
loan impairment representing the difference between the carrying value of the loans and the estimated 
value of the net assets acquired. 

5.	I nvestments
Equity accounted investments include the following:

% of Investment           Book Value

(Millions) 2009 2008 2009 2008

Transelec 28% 28% $� 378 $� 324
Property funds 13 - 25% 20 - 25% 480 233
Prime Infrastructure 40% — 657 —
DBCT 49% — 254 —
Other Various Various 155 126
Brazil transmission — 7 - 25% — 207

Total $� 1,924 $� 890

In the fourth quarter of 2009, the company acquired a 40% interest in Prime Infrastructure which is 
comprised of a number of utility, energy and transportation assets as part of the BBI Transaction. As part 
of the same transaction, the company acquired a 49% indirect ownership interest in Dalrymple Bay Coal 
Terminal (“DBCT”). See Note 2 for further information.

Also in the fourth quarter of 2009, the company increased its ownership interest in MAFCA and commenced 
accounting for its investment in the fund on a consolidated basis. This resulted in the company consolidating 
the fund’s $339 million of equity accounted investments as “property fund investments” in the foregoing 
table. See Note 2 for further information.
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The company sold its Brazilian transmission investment in the second quarter of 2009 for proceeds of 
$275 million.

6.	ACCOUNTS  RECEIVABLE AND OTHER

(Millions) Note 2009 2008

Accounts receivable (a) $� 4,201 $� 3,056
Prepaid expenses and other assets (b) 2,781 2,548
Restricted cash (c) 704 610
Future tax assets 919 711

Total $� 8,605 $� 6,925

(a)	A ccounts Receivable
Accounts receivable includes $2,447 million (2008 – $1,351 million) of work-in-process related to contracted 
sales from the company’s residential development operations. Also included in accounts receivable are loans 
receivable from employees of the company and consolidated subsidiaries of $6 million (2008 – $6 million). 

(b)	P repaid Expenses and Other Assets
Prepaid expenses and other assets includes $803 million (2008  –  $778 million) of levelized receivables 
arising from straight-line revenue recognition for commercial property leases and power sales contracts. 
Also included is $461 million (2008 – $609 million) of inventory primarily related to industrial businesses.

(c)	R estricted Cash
Restricted cash relates primarily to commercial property and power generating financing arrangements 
including defeasement of debt obligations, debt service accounts and deposits held by the company’s 
insurance operations.

7.	INTANGIBLE  ASSETS
Intangible assets includes $1,341 million (2008 – $1,470 million) related to leases and tenant relationships 
allocated from the purchase price on the acquisition of commercial properties which is presented net of 
$575 million (2008 – $526 million) of accumulated amortization.

8.	PROPERTY , PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Millions) Note 2009 2008

Renewable power generation (a) $� 5,638 $� 4,954
Commercial properties (b) 24,270 21,598
Infrastructure (c) 3,247 2,879
Development activities (d) 6,404 5,342
Other plant and equipment (e) 2,105 1,992

Total $� 41,664 $� 36,765

(a)	R enewable Power Generation

(Millions) 2009 2008

Hydroelectric power facilities $� 6,235 $� 5,240
Wind energy 319 291
Co-generation and pumped storage 179 188

6,733 5,719
Less: accumulated depreciation 1,328 1,018

5,405 4,701
Generating facilities under development 233 253

Total $� 5,638 $� 4,954

Generation assets includes the cost of the company’s 163  hydroelectric generating stations, one wind 
energy farm, one pumped storage facility and two natural gas-fired cogeneration facilities. The company’s 
hydroelectric power facilities operate under various agreements for water rights which extend to or are 
renewable over terms through the years 2009 to 2046.
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(b)	C ommercial Properties

(Millions) 2009 2008

Commercial properties $� 24,163 $� 20,711
Less: accumulated depreciation 1,900 1,437

22,263 19,274
Commercial developments 2,007 2,324

Total $� 24,270 $� 21,598

Included in commercial properties is $3,961 million (2008 – $3,934 million) of land held under leases or other 
agreements largely expiring after the year 2099. Minimum rental payments on land leases are approximately 
$29 million (2008 – $29 million) annually for the next five years and $1,750 million (2008 – $1,804 million) in 
total on an undiscounted basis.

Construction costs of $125 million and interest costs of $132 million were capitalized to the commercial 
property portfolio for properties undergoing development in 2009 (2008  –  $397 million and $157  million, 
respectively).

(c)	I nfrastructure

(Millions) Note 2009 2008

Timber (i) $� 2,802 $� 2,721
Utilities and energy (ii) 144 158
Transportation (iii) 301 —

Total $� 3,247 $� 2,879

(i)	 Timber
(Millions) 2009 2008

Timber $� 3,166 $� 2,987
Other property, plant and equipment 16 19

3,182 3,006
Less: accumulated depletion and amortization 380 285

Total $� 2,802 $� 2,721

(ii)	 Utilities and Energy

(Millions) 2009 2008

Utilities and energy assets $� 216 $� 167
Other property, plant and equipment — 82

216 249
Less: accumulated depreciation 72 91

Total $� 144 $� 158

The company’s utilities and energy assets are comprised of power transmission and distribution networks, 
which are operated under regulated rate base arrangements that are applied to the company’s invested 
capital.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, the company disposed of its Canadian distribution assets for consideration 
of C$75 million.

(iii)	 Transportation

(Millions) 2009 2008

Transportation assets $� 302 $� —
Less: accumulated depreciation 1 —

Total $� 301 $� —

In connection with the BBI Transaction, the company acquired PD Ports, the third largest port operator in 
the UK by volume. See Note 2 for further information.
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(d)	D evelopment Activities
Development activities include properties relating to the company’s opportunity investments, residential 
properties, residential land and other, and construction operations. 

(Millions) Note 2009 2008

Opportunity investments (i) $� 917 $� 850
Residential properties (ii) 3,059 2,431
Residential land and other (iii) 2,317 1,937
Construction 111 124

Total $� 6,404 $� 5,342

(i)	 Opportunity Investments

(Millions) 2009 2008

Commercial and other properties $� 1,016 $� 926
Less: accumulated depreciation 99 76

Total $� 917 $� 850

(ii)	 Residential Properties

(Millions) 2009 2008

Residential properties – owned $� 2,933 $� 2,362
– optioned 126 69

Total $� 3,059 $� 2,431

Residential properties include infrastructure, land under option, and construction in progress for 
single-family homes and condominiums. During 2009, the company capitalized $104 million of interest 
(2008 – $148 million) to its residential land operations.

(iii)	 Residential Land and Other
Residential land and other includes rural lands held for future development in agricultural or residential 
areas.

(e)	O ther Plant and Equipment
Other plant and equipment includes capital assets associated primarily with the company’s investments in 
Fraser Papers Inc., Norbord Inc., Western Forest Products Inc., and other consolidated entities within the 
company’s restructuring funds.

9.	C orporate borrowings

(Millions) Market Maturity Annual Rate Currency 2009 2008

Term debt Public – U.S. March 1, 2010 5.75% US$ $� 200 $� 200
Term debt Public – U.S. June 15, 2012 7.13% US$ 350 350
Term debt Private – U.S. October 23, 2012 6.40% US$ 75 75
Term debt Private – U.S. October 23, 2013 6.65% US$ 75 75
Term debt Private – Canadian April 30, 2014 6.26% C$ 35 —
Term debt Public – Canadian June 2, 2014 8.95% C$ 475 —
Term debt Public – U.S. April 25, 2017 5.80% US$ 240 250
Term debt Public – Canadian April 25, 2017 5.29% C$ 238 205
Term debt Public – U.S. March 1, 2033 7.38% US$ 250 250
Term debt Public – Canadian June 14, 2035 5.95% C$ 285 246
Commercial paper and bank borrowings  L + 62.5 b.p. US$/C$ 388 649
Deferred financing costs1 (18) (16)

Total $� 2,593 $� 2,284

1.	D eferred financing costs are amortized to interest expense over the term of the borrowing following the effective interest method
L – One month LIBOR       b.p. – Basis Points

Term debt borrowings have a weighted average interest rate of 5.9% (2008 – 6.3%), and include $1,099 million 
(2008 – $451 million) repayable in Canadian dollars equivalent to C$1,157 million (2008 – C$550 million).
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The fair value of corporate borrowings at December 31, 2009 was above the company’s carrying values by 
$66 million (2008 – below by $140 million), determined by way of discounted cash flows using market rates 
adjusted for the company’s credit spreads. Corporate borrowings are recorded initially at their fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred, and are subsequently reported at their amortized cost calculated using 
the effective interest method. 

In 2009, the company issued C$500 million of 8.95% publicly traded term debt due June 2014, as well as a 
C$40 million secured private placement.

In March 2010, the company repaid $200  million of corporate term debt and issued C$300  million of 
corporate term debt at 5.2%, which matures in September 2016.

10.	NON -RECOURSE BORROWINGS

(a)	P roperty-Specific Mortgages
Principal repayments on property-specific mortgages due over the next five years and thereafter are as 
follows:

(Millions)

Renewable Power 
Generation

Commercial 
Properties  Infrastructure Development

Special  
Situations

Total Annual 
Repayments

2010 $� 390 $� 1,281 $� 10 $� 1,032 $� 64 $� 2,777
2011 126 5,329 74 722 126 6,377
2012 700 1,793 — 430 636 3,559
2013 138 2,317 454 157 76 3,142
2014 288 1,185 — 41 — 1,514
Thereafter 2,489 4,228 1,528 49 1,068 9,362

Total – 2009 $� 4,131 $� 16,133 $� 2,066 $� 2,431 $� 1,970 $� 26,731

Total – 2008 $� 3,588 $� 15,219 $� 1,648 $� 2,490 $� 1,453 $� 24,398

The local currency composition of property-specific mortgages are as follows: 

 (Millions) 2009
Local  

Currency 2008
Local  

Currency

U.S. dollars  $�16,489  $�16,489  $� 16,906  $� 16,906 
Canadian dollars  3,507 3,690  3,085 3,766
Australian dollars  2,879 3,208  2,074 2,943
Brazilian reais  2,431 4,233  1,460 3,415
British pounds  1,201 743  725 496
New Zealand dollars 176 243 101 171
European Union euros 48 33 47 33

 $�26,731  $�N /A  $� 24,398  $�N /A

N/A - not applicable

The weighted average interest rate at December 31, 2009 was 5.2% per annum (2008 – 5.8%).

Property-specific mortgages are recorded initially at their fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 
are subsequently reported at their amortized cost calculated using the effective interest method.

The fair value of property-specific mortgages was below the company’s carrying values by $495 million 
(2008 – $513 million), determined by way of discounted cash flows using market rates adjusted for credit 
spreads applicable to the debt. 

Residential property debt represents amounts drawn under construction financing facilities which are 
typically established on a project-by-project basis. Amounts drawn are repaid from the proceeds on the 
sale of building lots, single-family homes and condominiums and redrawn to finance the construction of 
new homes.
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(b)	S ubsidiary Borrowings
Principal repayments on subsidiary borrowings over the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

(Millions)

Renewable 
Power Generation

Commercial 
Properties Infrastructure Development

Special 
Situations Other

Total Annual 
Repayments

2010 $� 28 $� 392 $� — $� 296 $� 92 $� 35 $� 843
2011 122 159 — 179 118 — 578
2012 380 — — — 246 — 626
2013 — — — — 5 — 5

2014 — — — — 218 — 218
Thereafter 614 — — — — 779 1,393

Total – 2009 $� 1,144 $� 551 $� — $� 475 $� 679 $� 814 $� 3,663

Total – 2008 $� 652 $� 831 $� 140 $� 394 $� 815 $� 761 $� 3,593

The local currency composition of subsidiary borrowings are as follows: 

 (Millions) 2009
Local 

 Currency 2008
Local  

Currency

U.S. dollars  $� 1,723  $� 1,723  $� 1,865  $� 1,865 
Canadian dollars  1,191 1,253  955 1,166
Australian dollars  588 655  760 1,078
Brazilian reais — —  4 10
British pounds  161 100  9 6

 $� 3,663  $�N /A  $� 3,593  $�N /A 

The fair value of subsidiary borrowings was above the company’s carrying values by $3 million (2008  –   
was below $239 million), determined by way of discounted cash flows using market rates adjusted for 
applicable credit spreads.

Commercial properties includes $nil (2008 – $240 million) invested by investment partners in the form of 
debt capital in entities that are required to be consolidated into the company’s accounts.

Subsidiary borrowings include contingent obligations pursuant to financial instruments which are 
recorded as liabilities. These amounts include $779 million (2008 – $675 million) of subsidiary obligations 
relating to the company’s international operations that are subject to credit rating provisions and which 
are supported by corporate guarantees.

Subsidiary borrowings are recorded initially at their fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and are 
subsequently reported at amortized cost calculated using the effective interest method.

11.	ACCOUNTS  PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES

(Millions) 2009 2008

Accounts payable $� 5,052 $� 4,494
Future tax liabilities 1,654 1,461
Other liabilities 3,311 2,949

Total $� 10,017 $� 8,904

Included in accounts payable and other liabilities is $1,674 million (2008 – $1,045 billion) and $696 million 
(2008  –  $453  million) of accounts payable and deferred revenue, respectively, related to the company’s 
residential development operations. Accounts payable also includes $735 million (2008 – $1,014 million) of 
insurance deposits, claims and other liabilities incurred by the company’s insurance subsidiaries. 

12.	INTANGIBLE  LIABILITIES
Intangible liabilities represent below-market tenant leases and above-market ground leases assumed on 
acquisitions, net of accumulated amortization. At December 31, 2009, $741 million (2008 – $891 million) 
of below-market tenant leases and above-market ground leases were recorded net of $476  million of 
amortization (2008 – $374 million).
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13.	CAPITAL  SECURITIES
The company has the following capital securities outstanding:

(Millions) Note 2009 2008

Corporate preferred shares (a) $� 632 $� 543
Subsidiary preferred shares (b) 1,009 882

Total $� 1,641 $� 1,425

(a)	C orporate Preferred Shares

(Millions, except share information)

Shares
Outstanding Description

Cumulative
Dividend Rate Currency 2009 2008

Class A preferred shares 10,000,000 Series 10 5.75% C$ $� 238 $� 205
4,032,401 Series 11 5.50% C$ 96 83
7,000,000 Series 12 5.40% C$ 166 143
6,000,000 Series 21 5.00% C$ 142 123

Deferred financing costs (10) (11)

Total $� 632 $� 543

Subject to approval of the Toronto Stock Exchange, the Series 10, 11, 12 and 21 shares, unless redeemed by 
the company for cash, are convertible into Class A common shares at a price equal to the greater of 95% 
of the market price at the time of conversion and C$2.00, at the option of either the company or the holder, 
at any time after the following dates:

Class A Preferred Shares

Earliest Permitted
Redemption Date

Company’s
Conversion Option

Holder’s
Conversion Option

Series 10 September 30, 2008 September 30, 2008 March 31, 2012
Series 11 June 30, 2009 June 30, 2009 December 31, 2013
Series 12 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2018
Series 21 June 30, 2013 June 30, 2013 June 30, 2013

(b)	S ubsidiary Preferred Shares

(Millions, except share information)

Shares
Outstanding Description

Cumulative
Dividend Rate Currency 2009 2008

Class AAA preferred shares of 8,000,000 Series F 6.00% C$ $� 190 $� 164
Brookfield Properties Corporation 4,400,000 Series G 5.25% US$ 110 110

8,000,000 Series H 5.75% C$ 190 164
8,000,000 Series I 5.20% C$ 190 164
8,000,000 Series J 5.00% C$ 190 164
6,000,000 Series K 5.20% C$ 143 123

Deferred financing costs (4) (7)

Total $� 1,009 $� 882

The subsidiary preferred shares are redeemable at the option of either the company or the holder, at any 
time after the following dates:

Class AAA Preferred Shares

Earliest Permitted 
Redemption Date

Company’s 
Conversion Option Holder’s Conversion Option

Series F September 30, 2009 September 30, 2009 March 31, 2013
Series G June 30, 2011 June 30, 2011 September 30, 2015
Series H December 31, 2011 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2015
Series I December 31, 2008 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2010
Series J June 30, 2010 June 30, 2010 December 31, 2014

Series K December 31, 2012 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2016
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14.	NON -CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Non-controlling interests represent the common and preferred equity in consolidated entities that is 
owned by other shareholders.

(Millions) 2009 2008

Common equity $� 8,182 $� 5,875
Preferred equity 787 446

Total $� 8,969 $� 6,321

Non-controlling interests in common equity increased by $2,125 million during 2009 as a result of equity 
issuances in the company’s consolidated subsidiaries. 

15.	PREFERRED  EQUITY
Preferred equity represents perpetual preferred shares and consists of the following:

Issued and Outstanding

(Millions, except share information) Rate Term 2009 2008 2009 2008

Class A preferred shares
Series 2 70% P Perpetual 10,465,100 10,465,100 $� 169 $� 169
Series 4 70% P/8.5% Perpetual 2,800,000 2,800,000 45 45
Series 8 Variable up to P Perpetual 1,805,948 1,805,948 29 29
Series 9 4.35% Perpetual 2,194,052 2,194,052 35 35
Series 13 70% P Perpetual 9,297,700 9,297,700 195 195
Series 15 B.A. + 40 b.p.1 Perpetual 2,000,000 2,000,000 42 42
Series 17 4.75% Perpetual 8,000,000 8,000,000 174 174
Series 18 4.75% Perpetual 8,000,000 8,000,000 181 181
Series 22 7.00% Perpetual 12,000,000 — 274 —

Total $� 1,144 $� 870

1.	R ate determined in a quarterly auction
P – Prime Rate       B.A. – Bankers’ Acceptance Rate       b.p. – Basis Points

The company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A preferred shares and an unlimited 
number of Class AA preferred shares, issuable in series. No Class AA preferred shares have been issued.

The Class A preferred shares have preference over the Class AA preferred shares, which in turn are 
entitled to preference over the Class A and Class B common shares on the declaration of dividends and 
other distributions to shareholders. All series of the outstanding preferred shares have a par value of 
C$25 per share.

In June 2009, the company issued 12,000,000 Class A series 22, 7% preferred shares for cash proceeds of 
C$300 million, and incurred transaction costs of C$9 million.  

In January 2010, the company issued 11,000,000 Class A series 24, 5.4% preferred shares for cash proceeds 
of C$275 million, and incurred transaction costs of C$8 million. 

16.	C ommon equity
The company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A Limited Voting Shares (“Class A 
common shares”) and 85,120 Class B Limited Voting Shares (“Class B common shares”), together referred 
to as common shares.
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The company’s common shareholders’ equity is comprised of the following:

(Millions) 2009 2008 

Class A and B common shares $� 1,289 $� 1,278
Contributed surplus 58 42
Retained earnings 4,451 4,361
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 605 (770)

Common equity $� 6,403 $� 4,911

NUMBER OF SHARES
Class A common shares 572,782,819 572,479,652
Class B common shares 85,120 85,120

572,867,939 572,564,772
Unexercised options 34,883,426 27,761,269

Total diluted common shares 607,751,365 600,326,041

(a)	C lass A and Class B Common Shares
The company’s Class A common shares and its Class B common shares are each, as a separate class, 
entitled to elect one-half of the company’s Board of Directors. Shareholder approvals for matters other 
than for the election of directors must be received from the holders of the company’s Class A common 
shares as well as the Class B common shares, each voting as a separate class.

During 2009 and 2008, the number of issued and outstanding common shares changed as follows:

2009 2008

Outstanding at beginning of year 572,564,772 583,612,701
Shares issued (repurchased)

Dividend reinvestment plan 178,962 161,386
Management share option plan 1,622,444 3,014,077
Repurchases (1,498,249) (14,224,303)
Other 10 911

Outstanding at end of year 572,867,939 572,564,772

In 2009, the company repurchased 1,498,249 (2008 – 14,224,303) Class A common shares under normal course 
issuer bids at a cost of $18 million (2008 – $287 million). Proceeds from the issuance of common shares 
pursuant to the company’s dividend reinvestment plan and management share option plan (“MSOP”), 
totalled $14 million (2008 – $33 million).

(b)	E arnings Per Share
The components of basic and diluted earnings per share are summarized in the following table:

(Millions) 2009 2008 

Net income $� 454 $� 649
Preferred share dividends (43) (44)

Net income available for common shareholders $� 411 $� 605
Weighted average outstanding common shares 572.2 581.1
Dilutive effect of options using treasury stock method 8.1 10.8

Common shares and common share equivalents 580.3 591.9

The holders of Class A common shares and Class B common shares rank on parity with each other with 
respect to the payment of dividends and the return of capital on the liquidation, dissolution or winding 
up of the company or any other distribution of the assets of the company among its shareholders for 
the purpose of winding up its affairs. With respect to the Class A and Class B common shares, there 
are no dilutive factors, material or otherwise, that would result in different diluted earnings per share. 
This relationship holds true irrespective of the number of dilutive instruments issued in either one of the 
respective classes of common shares, as both classes of common shares participate equally, on a pro 
rata basis in the dividends, earnings and net assets of the company, whether taken before or after dilutive 
instruments, regardless of which class of common shares is diluted.
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(c)	S tock-Based Compensation
Options issued under the company’s MSOP typically vest proportionately over five years and expire 10 
years after the grant date. The exercise price is equal to the market price at the grant date. During 2009, the 
company granted 10,154,850 (2008 – 3,823,000) options with an average exercise price of $14.31 (C$17.78) 
(2008 – C$31.47) per share. The cost of the options granted was determined using the Black-Scholes model 
of valuation, assuming a 7.5 year term to exercise (2008 – 7.5 year), 32% volatility (2008 – 27%), a weighted 
average expected annual dividend yield of 3.7% (2008 – 1.7%), a risk-free rate of 2.3% (2008 – 3.9%) and a 
liquidity discount of 25% (2008 – 25%). The cost of $21 million (2008 – $21 million) is charged to employee 
compensation expense on an equal basis over the five-year vesting period of the options granted.

The changes in the number of options during 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

2009 2008 
Number of

Options
(000’s)

Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price

Number of
Options

(000’s)

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 27,761 C$� 19.61 27,344 C$� 17.12
Granted 10,155 17.78 3,823 31.47
Exercised (1,623) 7.76 (3,014) 10.18
Cancelled (1,410) 32.37 (392) 34.54

Outstanding at end of year 34,883 C$� 19.11 27,761 C$� 19.61

Exercisable at end of year 18,408 16,671

At December 31, 2009, the following options to purchase Class A common shares were outstanding:

Weighted Number

Number Outstanding Average Exercisable
(000’s) Exercise Price Remaining Life (000’s)

2,129 C$4.90 –   C$6.73 0.6 years 2,129
6,210 C$7.61 –   C$9.84 2.4 years 6,210
12,839 C$13.37 – C$19.03 8.0 years 2,958
7,946 C$20.21 – C$30.22 5.7 years 5,446
5,759 C$31.62 – C$46.59 7.7 years 1,665

34,883 18,408

A Restricted Share Unit Plan provides for the issuance of Deferred Share Units (“DSUs”), as well as 
Restricted Share Appreciation Units (“RSAUs”). Under this plan, qualifying employees and directors 
receive varying percentages of their annual incentive bonus or directors’ fees in the form of DSUs. The 
DSUs and RSAUs vest over periods of up to five years, and DSUs accumulate additional DSUs at the 
same rate as dividends on common shares based on the market value of the common shares at the time 
of the dividend. Participants are not allowed to convert DSUs and RSAUs into cash until cessation of 
employment. The value of the DSUs, when converted to cash, will be equivalent to the market value of the 
common shares at the time the conversion takes place. The value of the RSAUs when converted into cash 
will be equivalent to the difference between the market price of equivalent numbers of common shares 
at the time the conversion takes place, and the market price on the date the RSAUs are granted. The 
company uses equity derivative contracts to offset its exposure to the change in share prices in respect of 
vested and unvested DSUs and RSAUs. The value of the vested DSUs and RSAUs as at December 31, 2009 
was $215 million (2008 – $132 million).

Employee compensation expense for these plans is charged against income over the vesting period of the 
DSUs and RSAUs. The amount payable by the company in respect of vested DSUs and RSAUs changes 
as a result of dividends and share price movements. All of the amounts attributable to changes in the 
amounts payable by the company are recorded as employee compensation expense in the period of the 
change, and for the year ended December  31,  2009, including those of operating subsidiaries, totalled 
$26 million (2008 – $61 million), net of the impact of hedging arrangements.
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17.	D erivative financial instruments
The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk (i.e. currency risk, 
interest rate risk, and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The company and its subsidiaries 
selectively use derivative financial instruments principally to manage these risks.  

The aggregate notional amount of the company’s derivative positions at the end of 2009 and 2008 are as 
follows:

(Millions) Note 2009 2008

Foreign exchange (a) $� 2,220 $� 3,607
Interest rates (b) 6,503 8,085
Credit default swaps (c) 365 2,465
Equity derivatives (d) 567 417
Commodity instruments (energy) (e) 365 198

$� 10,020 $� 14,772

(a)	F oreign Exchange
The company held the following foreign exchange contracts with notional amounts at December 31, 2009 
and December 31, 2008.

  Notional Amount (U.S. Dollars)  Average Exchange Rate

(Millions) 2009 2008 2009 2008

Foreign exchange contracts
Canadian dollars  $� 192  $� 278  $� 0.95  $� 0.82 
British pounds 364  960  1.61  1.48 
Australian dollars  389  1,053  0.81  0.67 
European Union euros 176 121 1.46 1.49
Danish kroner 54 — 0.19 —
Brazilian reais 3 249 1.75 1.92

Cross currency interest rate swaps
Canadian dollars 569  669 0.79 0.67
Australian dollars 24 141 0.66 0.77
Brazilian reais — 136 — 1.71

Foreign exchange options 449 — 0.73 —

 $� 2,220  $� 3,607 �$�N /A $�N /A

Included in net income, are net gains on foreign currency balances amounting to $16  million 
(2008 – $37 million) and included in the cumulative translation adjustment account in other comprehensive 
income are gains in respect of foreign currency contracts entered into for hedging purposes amounting to 
$1 million (2008 – $139 million).

(b)	I nterest Rates
At December 31, 2009, the company held interest rate swap contracts having an aggregate notional amount 
of $650 million (2008 – $400 million). The company’s subsidiaries held interest rate swap contracts having 
an aggregate notional amount of $4,953 million (2008  –  $3,292 million). The company’s subsidiaries held 
interest rate cap contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $900 million (2008 – $4,393 million). 

(c)	C redit Default Swaps
As at December 31, 2009, the company held credit default swap contracts with an aggregate notional amount 
of $365 million (2008 – $2,465 million). Credit default swaps are contracts which are designed to compensate 
the purchaser for any change in the value of an underlying reference asset, based on measurement in 
credit spreads, upon the occurrence of predetermined credit events. The company is entitled to receive 
payments in the event of a predetermined credit event for up to $245 million (2008 – $2,407 million) of the 
notional amount and could be required to make payments in respect of $120 million (2008 – $58 million) of 
the notional amount.
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(d)	E quity Derivatives
At December 31, 2009, the company and its subsidiaries held equity derivatives with a notional amount 
of $567 million (2008 – $417 million) recorded at an amount equal to fair value. A portion of the notional 
amount represents a $366  million (2008  –  $263 million) hedge of long-term compensation arrangements 
and the balance represents common equity positions established in connection with the company’s 
investment activities. The fair value of these instruments was reflected in the company’s consolidated 
financial statements at year end. 

(e)	C ommodity Instruments
The company has entered into energy derivative contracts primarily to hedge the sale of generated power. 
The company endeavours to link forward electricity sale derivatives to specific periods in which it expects 
to generate electricity for sale. All energy derivative contracts are recorded at an amount equal to fair 
value and are reflected in the company’s consolidated financial statements at year end.

Other Information Regarding Derivative Financial Instruments
The following table classifies derivatives elected as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges or net 
investment hedges, and records changes in the value of the effective portion of the hedge in either Other 
Comprehensive Income or Net Income, depending on the hedge classification and records changes in the 
value of the ineffective portion of the hedge in Net Income during the year:

Net Gain (Losses)

(MILLIONS)

 
Notional

Effective 
Portion

Ineffective 
Portion

Fair value hedges $� 447 $� 8 $� 2
Cash flow hedges 4,684 100 1
Net investment hedges 1,064 (92) 5

$� 6,195 $� 16 $� 8

The following table presents the change in fair values of the company’s derivative positions during the 
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, for both derivatives that are held-for-trading and derivatives that 
qualify for hedge accounting:

(Millions)

Unrealized Gains 
During 2009

Unrealized Losses 
During 2009

Net Change 
During 2009

2008
Net Change

Foreign exchange derivatives $� 87 $� (70) $� 17 $� 176
Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 212 (8) 204 (180)
Interest rate caps 4 (3) 1 2

216 (11) 205 (178)
Credit default swaps — (4) (4) 27
Equity derivatives 66 (47) 19 (219)
Commodity derivatives 83 (112) (29) 147

$� 452 $� (244) $� 208 $� (47)
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The following table presents the notional amounts underlying the company’s derivative instruments by 
term to maturity, as at December 31, 2009, for both derivatives that are held-for-trading and derivatives 
that qualify for hedge accounting:

Residual Term to Contractual Maturity

Total Notional

(Millions) < 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Amount

Held-for-trading

Foreign exchange derivatives $� 316 $� 473 $� — $� 789
Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 798 198 478 1,474
Interest rate caps 356 28 — 384

1,154 226 478 1,858
Credit default swaps — 365 — 365
Equity derivatives 37 336 184 557
Commodity derivatives 37 100 119 256

� 1,544 � 1,500 � 781 � 3,825

Elected for hedge accounting

Foreign exchange derivatives � 1,065 � 366 � — � 1,431
Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 1,100 3,024 5 4,129
Interest rate caps 160 356 — 516

1,260 3,380 5 4,645
Equity derivatives 10 — — 10
Commodity derivatives 93 16 — 109

� 2,428 � 3,762 � 5 � 6,195

$� 3,972 $� 5,262 $� 786 $� 10,020

18.	RIS K MANAGEMENT
The company is exposed to the following risks as a result of holding financial instruments: market risk (i.e. 
interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risks that impact the fair values of financial instruments); 
credit risk; and liquidity risk. The following is a description of these risks and how they are managed:

(a)	 Market Risk
Market risk is defined for these purposes as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument held by the company will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk includes 
the risk of changes in interest rates, currency exchange rates and changes in market prices due to factors 
other than interest rates or currency exchange rates such as changes in equity prices, commodity prices 
or credit spreads.

The company manages market risk from foreign currency assets and liabilities and the impact of changes 
in interest rates, floating rate assets and liabilities by funding assets with financial liabilities in the same 
currency and with similar interest rate characteristics and holding financial contracts such as interest 
rate and foreign exchange derivatives to minimize residual exposures. Financial instruments held by the 
company that are subject to market risk include securities and loans and notes receivable, borrowings, and 
derivative instruments such as interest rate, currency, equity and commodity contracts. The categories 
of financial instruments that can potentially give rise to significant variability in net income and other 
comprehensive income are described in the following paragraphs.

Interest Rate Risk
The observable impacts on the fair values and future cash flows of financial instruments that can be 
directly attributable to interest rate risk include changes in the net income from financial instruments 
whose cash flows are determined with reference to floating interest rates and changes in the value of 
financial instruments whose cash flows are fixed in nature.  

The company’s assets largely consist of long duration interest sensitive physical assets. Accordingly, the 
company’s financial liabilities consist primarily of long-term fixed rate debt or floating rate debt that has 
been swapped with interest rate derivatives. These financial liabilities are, with few exceptions, recorded 



2009 annual report 121

at their amortized cost. The company also holds interest rate caps to limit its exposure to increases in 
interest rates on floating rate debt that has not been swapped and holds interest rate contracts to lock 
in fixed rates on anticipated future debt issuances and as an economic hedge against the values of long 
duration interest sensitive physical assets that have not been otherwise matched with fixed rate debt.

The result of a 50-basis point increase in interest rates on the company’s net floating rate assets and 
liabilities would have resulted in a corresponding decrease in net income before tax of $29 million on an 
annualized basis.

Changes in the value of held-for-trading interest rate contracts are recorded in net income and changes 
in the value of contracts that are elected for hedge accounting together with changes in the value of 
available-for-sale financial instruments are recorded in other comprehensive income together with the 
change in the value of the item being hedged. The impact of a 10-basis point parallel increase in the yield 
curve on the aforementioned financial instruments is estimated to result in a corresponding increase in 
net income of $1 million and an increase in other comprehensive income of $2 million, before tax for the 
year ended December 31, 2009.

Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Changes in currency rates will impact the carrying value of financial instruments denominated in 
currencies other than the U.S. dollar. 

The company holds financial instruments with net unmatched exposures in several currencies, changes 
in the translated value of which are recorded in net income. The impact of a 1% increase in the U.S. dollar 
against these currencies would have resulted in a $16 million increase in the value of these positions on 
a combined basis, of which $20  million relates to the Canadian dollar. The impact on cash flows from 
financial instruments would be insignificant. The company holds financial instruments to hedge the net 
investment in self-sustaining operations whose functional and reporting currencies are other than the 
U.S. dollar. A 1% increase in the U.S. dollar would increase the value of these hedging instruments by 
$32 million as at December 31, 2009, which would be recorded in other comprehensive income and offset 
by changes in the U.S. dollar carrying value of the net investment being hedged.

Other Price Risk
Other price risk is the risk of variability in fair value due to movements in equity prices or other market 
prices such as commodity prices and credit spreads. 

Financial instruments held by the company that are exposed to equity price risk include equity securities 
and equity derivatives. A 5%  decrease in the market price of equity securities and equity derivatives 
held by the company, excluding equity derivatives in respect of compensation arrangements, would have 
increased net income by $6  million and decreased other comprehensive income by $8  million, prior to 
taxes. The company’s liability in respect of equity compensation arrangements is subject to variability 
based on changes in the company’s underlying common share price. The company holds equity derivatives 
to hedge almost all of the variability. A 5% change in the common equity price of the company in respect 
of compensation agreements would increase the compensation liability and compensation expense 
by $16  million. This increase would be offset by a $17  million change in value of the associated equity 
derivatives of which $16 million would offset the above mentioned increase in compensation expense and 
the remaining $1 million would be recorded in other comprehensive income.

The company sells power and generation capacity under long-term agreements and financial contracts to 
stabilize future revenues. Certain of the contracts are considered financial instruments and are recorded 
at fair value in the financial statements, with changes in value being recorded in either net income or other 
comprehensive income as applicable. A 5% increase in energy prices would have decreased net income 
for the year ended December  31,  2009 by approximately $21  million and other comprehensive income 
by $4  million, prior to taxes. The corresponding increase in the value of the revenue or capacity being 
contracted, however, is not recorded in net income until subsequent periods.

The company held credit default swap contracts with a net notional amount of $125  million at 
December 31, 2009. The company is exposed to changes in the credit spread of the contracts’ underlying 
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reference asset. A 10-basis point increase in the credit spread of the underlying reference assets would 
have increased net income by $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, prior to taxes.

(b)	C redit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a borrower or counterparty to fulfill its contractual 
obligations. The company’s exposure to credit risk in respect of financial instruments relates primarily to 
counterparty obligations regarding derivative contracts, loans receivable and credit investments such as 
bonds and preferred shares.

The company assesses the credit worthiness of each counterparty before entering into contracts and 
ensures that counterparties meet minimum credit quality requirements. Management evaluates and 
monitors counterparty credit risk for derivative financial instruments and endeavours to minimize 
counterparty credit risk through diversification, collateral arrangements, and other credit risk mitigation 
techniques. The credit risk of derivative financial instruments is generally limited to the positive fair 
value of the instruments, which, in general, tends to be a relatively small proportion of the notional value. 
Substantially all of the company’s derivative financial instruments involve either counterparties that are 
banks or other financial institutions in North America, the United Kingdom and Australia, or arrangements 
that have embedded credit risk mitigation features. The company does not expect to incur credit losses in 
respect of any of these counterparties. The maximum exposure in respect of loans receivables and credit 
investments is equal to the carrying value.

(c)	L iquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company cannot meet a demand for cash or fund an obligation as it 
comes due. Liquidity risk also includes the risk of not being able to liquidate assets in a timely manner at 
a reasonable price. 

To ensure the company is able to react to contingencies and investment opportunities quickly, the company 
maintains sources of liquidity at the corporate level. The primary source of liquidity consists of cash and 
financial assets, net of deposits and other associated liabilities, and undrawn committed credit facilities. 

The company is subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including the ability to refinance 
indebtedness at maturity. The company believes these risks are mitigated through the use of long-term 
debt secured by high quality assets, maintaining debt levels that are in management’s opinion relatively 
conservative, and by diversifying maturities over an extended period of time. The company also seeks 
to include in its agreements terms that protect the company from liquidity issues of counterparties that 
might otherwise impact the company’s liquidity.

19.	C apital management
The capital of the company consists of the components of shareholders’ equity in the company’s 
consolidated balance sheet (i.e. common and preferred equity) as well as the company’s capital securities, 
which consist of corporate preferred shares that are convertible into common shares at the option of 
either the holder or the company. As at December 31, 2009, these items totalled $8.2 billion on a book value 
basis (2008 – $6.3 billion).

The company’s objectives when managing this capital are to maintain an appropriate balance between 
holding a sufficient amount of capital to support its operations, which includes maintaining investment- 
grade ratings at the corporate level, and providing shareholders with a prudent amount of leverage to 
enhance returns. Corporate leverage, which consists of corporate debt as well as subsidiary obligations 
that are guaranteed by the company or are otherwise considered corporate in nature, totalled $3.4 billion 
based on book values at December 31, 2009 (2008 – $3.0 billion). The company monitors its capital base 
and leverage primarily in the context of its deconsolidated debt-to-total capitalization ratios. The ratio as 
at December 31, 2009 was 27% (2008 – 28%), which is within the company’s target of between 20% and 30% 
on a book value basis.

The consolidated capitalization of the company includes the capital and financial obligations of 
consolidated entities, including long-term property-specific financings, subsidiary borrowings, capital 
securities as well as common and preferred equity held by other investors in these entities. The capital in 
these entities is managed at the entity level with oversight by management of the company. The capital 
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is typically managed with the objective of maintaining investment-grade levels in most circumstances 
and is, except in limited and carefully managed circumstances, without any recourse to the company. 
Management of the company also takes into consideration capital requirements of consolidated and non-
consolidated entities that it has interests in when considering the appropriate level of capital and liquidity 
on a deconsolidated basis.

The company is subject to limited covenants in respect of its corporate debt and is in full compliance 
with all such covenants as at December  31,  2009. The company and its consolidated entities are also 
in compliance with all covenants and other capital requirements related to regulatory or contractual 
obligations of material consequence to the company.

20.	REVENUES  LESS DIRECT OPERATING COSTS
Direct operating costs include all attributable expenses except interest, depreciation and amortization, 
taxes, other provisions and non-controlling interests in income. The details are as follows:

2009 2008

(Millions) Revenue Expenses Net Revenue Expenses Net

Renewable power generation $� 1,156 $� 387 $� 769 $� 1,286 $� 400 $� 886
Commercial properties 2,918 1,192 1,726 2,761 1,094 1,667
Infrastructure 339 230 109 455 259 196
Development activities 1,965 1,636 329 1,990 1,824 166
Special situations 1,754 1,635 119 2,090 1,786 304
Realization gains — — 413 — — 164

$� 8,132 $� 5,080 $� 3,465 $� 8,582 $� 5,363 $� 3,383

21.	NON -CONTROLLING INTERESTS IN INCOME
Non-controlling interests of others in income is segregated into the non-controlling share of income before 
certain items and their share of those items, which include depreciation and amortization, income taxes 
and other provisions.

(Millions) 2009 2008

Non-controlling interests’ share of net income prior to the following $� 892 $� 810
Non-controlling interests’ share of depreciation and amortization, provisions and other, and  

future income taxes
(673) (437)

Non-controlling interests in net income $� 219 $� 373
Distributed as recurring dividends

Preferred $� 4 $� 2
Common 235 203

(Overdistributed)/undistributed (20) 168

Non-controlling interests in net income $� 219 $� 373

22.	I ncome taxes
(Millions) 2009 2008

Current $� (4) $� (7)
Future 24 (461)

Current and future income tax expense/(recovery) $� 20 $� (468)

Future income tax assets relate primarily to non-capital losses available to reduce taxable income which 
may arise in the future. The company and its Canadian subsidiaries have future income tax assets of 
$433 million (2008 – $215 million) that relate to non-capital losses which expire over the next 20 years, and 
$129 million (2008 – $82 million) that relate to capital losses which have no expiry date. The company’s U.S. 
subsidiaries have future income tax assets of $165 million (2008 – $177 million) that relate to net operating 
losses which expire over the next 20 years. The company’s international subsidiaries have future income 
tax assets of $273 million (2008  –  $237 million) that relate to operating losses which generally have no 
expiry date. The benefit of these tax losses is reduced by $81 million (2008 – nil) for future tax liabilities 
that are expected to reverse at the same time. The amount of non-capital and capital losses and deductible 
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temporary differences for which no future income tax assets have been recognized is approximately 
$2,829 million (2008 – $2,887 million). The future income tax liabilities represent the cumulative amount of 
income tax payable on the differences between the book values and the tax values of the company’s assets 
and liabilities at the rates expected to be effective at the time the differences are anticipated to reverse. 
The future income tax liabilities relate primarily to differences between book values and tax values of 
property, plant and equipment due to different depreciation rates for accounting and tax purposes. The 
future income tax assets and liabilities are recorded in accounts receivable and other and accounts 
payable and other liabilities on the balance sheet. 

The following table reflects the company’s effective tax rate at December 31, 2009 and 2008:

2009 2008

Statutory income tax rate 33% 33%
Increase/(reduction) in rate resulting from

Dividends subject to tax prior to receipt by the company (15)% (19)%
Portion of income not subject to tax (14)% (6)%
International operations subject to different tax rates (19)% (26)%
Change in tax rates on temporary differences 5% (99)%
Recognition of future tax assets/(liabilities) (6)% 7%
Foreign exchange gain and losses 3% (27)%
Non-recognition of the benefit of current year’s tax losses 14% 27%
Other 3% 13%

Effective income tax rate 4% (97)%

23.	 JOINT VENTURES
The following amounts represent the company’s proportionate interest in incorporated and unincorporated 
joint ventures that are reflected in the company’s accounts:

(Millions) 2009 2008

Assets $� 4,434 $� 5,615
Liabilities 2,292 2,912
Operating revenues 548 693
Operating expenses 376 454
Net income 35 92
Cash flows from operating activities 179 104
Cash flows used in investing activities (35) (145)
Cash flow from financing activities 4 105

24.	POST -EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
The company offers pension and other post employment benefit plans to employees of certain of its 
subsidiaries. The company’s obligations under its defined benefit pension plans are determined periodically 
through the preparation of actuarial valuations. The benefit plans’ income for 2009 was $15 million 
(2008 –  expense of $13 million). The discount rate used was 6% (2008 – 6%) with an increase in the rate of 
compensation of 4% (2008 – 3%) and an investment rate of 8% (2008 – 7%).

(Millions) 2009 2008

Plan assets $� 1,063 $� 983
Less accrued benefit obligation:

Defined benefit pension plan (1,186) (1,094)
Other post-employment benefits (34) (62)

Net liability (157) (173)
Less: Unamortized transitional obligations and net actuarial losses 264 291

Accrued benefit asset $� 107 $� 118
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25.	SUPPLE MENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Millions) 2009 2008

Corporate borrowings
Issuances $� 459 $� 150
Repayments (20) (300)
Net commercial paper and bank borrowings (repaid)/issued (333) 483

$� 106 $� 333
Property-specific mortgages

Issuances $� 2,465 $� 4,830
Repayments (3,152) (5,968)

$� (687) $� (1,138)
Other debt of subsidiaries

Issuances $� 1,302 $� 1,169
Repayments (1,684) (1,553)

$� (382) $� (384)
Common shares

Issuances $� 14 $� 32
Repurchases (18) (281)

$� (4) $� (249)
Renewable power generation

Proceeds of dispositions $� — $� —
Investments (195) (529)

$� (195) $� (529)
Commercial properties

Proceeds of dispositions $� 33 $� 768
Investments (662) (1,270)

$� (629) $� (502)
Infrastructure

Proceeds of dispositions $� 314 $� 613
Investments (1,220) (252)

$� (906) $� 361
Development activities

Proceeds of dispositions $� 128 $� 216
Investments (267) (340)

$� (139) $� (124)
Loans and notes receivable

Loans collected $� 286 $� 781
Loans advanced (136) (940)

$� 150 $� (159)
Financial assets

Securities sold $� 874 $� 1,269
Securities purchased (1,132) (665)

$� (258) $� 604

Cash taxes paid were $5 million (2008 – $78 million) and are included in current income taxes. Cash interest 
paid totalled $1,867 million (2008  –  $2,163 million). Sustaining capital expenditures in the company’s 
renewable power generating operations were $70 million (2008  –  $70 million), in its property operations 
were $49 million (2008 – $48 million) and in its infrastructure operations were $13 million (2008 – $9 million).

Included in cash and cash equivalents is $1,109 million (December 31, 2008 – $863 million) of cash and 
$266 million of short-term deposits at December 31, 2009 (December 31, 2008 – $379 million).
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26.	S egmented information
The company’s presentation of reportable segments is based on how management has organized the 
business in making operating and capital allocation decisions and assessing performance. The company 
has five reportable segments:

(a)	� renewable power generation operations, which are predominantly hydroelectric power generating 
facilities on river systems in North America and Brazil;

(b)	� commercial properties operations, which are principally commercial office properties, retail properties 
and commercial developments located primarily in major North American, Brazilian, and Australian 
and European cities;

(c)	� infrastructure operations, which are predominantly transportation, utilities and timberland operations 
located in Australia, North America, the United Kingdom and South America;

(d)	� development activities operations, which are principally residential development, opportunistic 
investing and homebuilding operations, located primarily in major North American, Brazilian and 
Australian cities; and

(e)	� special situations operations include the company’s restructuring funds, real estate finance, bridge 
lending and other investments. 

Non-operating assets and related revenues, cash flows and income are presented as cash and financial 
assets.

Revenue, net income (loss) and assets by reportable segments are as follows:

2009 2008

Net Net

As at and for the Years Ended December 31 
(Millions) Revenue

Income 
(Loss) Assets Revenue

Income 
(Loss) Assets

Asset management and other $� 1,691 $� 135 $� 2,603 $� 2,149 $� 71 $� 2,212
Renewable power generation 1,206 489 7,043 1,286 328 6,473

Commercial properties � 2,967 � 95 � 27,718 � 3,226 154 � 24,917
Infrastructure 418 (8) 5,978 613 33 4,413
Development activities 1,962 (43) 9,756 1,634 8 7,283
Special situations 3,347 (179) 6,893 3,387 86 6,131
Cash and financial assets 491 (35) 1,911 614 (31) 2,168

$�12,082 $� 454 $�61,902 $�12,909 $� 649 $�53,597

Revenue and assets by geographic segments are as follows:

As at and for the Years Ended December 31 2009 2008

(Millions) Revenue Assets Revenue Assets

United States $� 5,774 $�30,688 $� 5,639 $�28,203
Canada 2,262 10,403 3,005 10,757
Australia 1,587 7,967 1,826 6,031
Brazil 1,345 9,249 1,092 5,749
Europe 716 3,093 543 1,901
Other 398 502 804 956

$�12,082 $�61,902 $�12,909 $�53,597
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27.	O ther Information

(a)	C ommitments, Guarantees and Contingencies
In the normal course of business, the company and its subsidiaries enter into contractual obligations 
which include commitments to provide bridge financing, and letters of credit and guarantees provided 
in respect of power sales contracts and reinsurance obligations. At the end of 2009, the company and 
its subsidiaries had $1,285 million (2008  –  $1,269 million) of such commitments outstanding of which 
$244 million (2008 – $211 million) is included in liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. 

In addition, the company and its consolidated subsidiaries execute agreements that provide for 
indemnifications and guarantees to third parties in transactions or dealings such as business dispositions, 
business acquisitions, sales of assets, provision of services, securitization agreements, and underwriting 
and agency agreements. The company has also agreed to indemnify its directors and certain of its officers 
and employees. The nature of substantially all of the indemnification undertakings prevents the company 
from making a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount the company could be required to 
pay third parties, as in most cases the agreements do not specify a maximum amount, and the amounts 
are dependent upon the outcome of future contingent events, the nature and likelihood of which cannot 
be determined at this time. Neither the company nor its consolidated subsidiaries have made significant 
payments in the past nor do they expect at this time to make any significant payments under such 
indemnification agreements in the future.

The company periodically enters into joint venture, consortium or other arrangements that have contingent 
liquidity rights in favour of the company or its counterparties. These include buy-sell arrangements, 
registration rights and other customary arrangements. These agreements generally have embedded 
protective terms that mitigate the risk to us. The amount, timing and likelihood of any payments by the 
company under these arrangements is in most cases dependent on either further contingent events or 
circumstances applicable to the counterparty and therefore cannot be determined at this time.

The company and its subsidiaries are contingently liable with respect to litigation and claims that arise in 
the normal course of business.

The company has $2.5 billion of insurance for damage and business interruption costs sustained as a 
result of an act of terrorism. However, a terrorist act could have a material effect on the company’s assets 
to the extent damages exceed the coverage. 

The company, through its subsidiaries within the residential properties operations, is contingently liable 
for obligations of its associates in its land development joint ventures. In each case, all of the assets of 
the joint venture are available first for the purpose of satisfying these obligations, with the balance shared 
among the participants in accordance with predetermined joint venture arrangements.

(b)	I nsurance
The company conducts insurance operations as part of its asset management activities. As at December 31, 
2009, the company held insurance assets of $717 million (2008 – $926 million) in respect of insurance 
contracts that are accounted for using the deposit method which were offset in each year by an equal 
amount of reserves and other liabilities. During 2009, net underwriting losses on reinsurance operations 
were $8 million (2008 – $18 million) representing $102 million (2008 – $363 million) of premium and other 
revenues offset by $110 million (2008 – $381 million) of reserves and other expenses.
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five-year financial review

As at and for the years ended December 31

(MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS; unaudited) 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Per Common Share (fully diluted)

Book value – Canadian GAAP $� 11.58 $� 8.92 $� 11.64 $� 9.37 $� 7.87
Underlying value - adjusted IFRS basis1 28.53 26.56 — — —
Cash flow from operations 2.43 2.33 3.11 2.95 1.46
Net income 0.71 1.02 1.24 1.90 2.72
Market trading price – NYSE 22.18 � 15.27 � 35.67 � 32.12 � 22.37
Dividends paid 0.52 � 1.452 � 0.47 � 0.39 � 0.26
Common shares outstanding

Basic 572.9 572.6 583.6 581.8 579.6
Diluted 607.8 600.3 611.0 610.8 608.0

Total (millions)

Total assets under management1,3 $� 108,342 $� 89,753 $� 94,340 $� 71,121 $� 49,700
Consolidated balance sheet assets 61,902 53,597 55,597 40,708 26,058
Corporate borrowings 2,593 2,284 2,048 1,507 1,620
Common equity – Canadian GAAP 6,403 4,911 6,644 5,395 4,514
Underlying value – adjusted IFRS basis1 17,850 16,369 — — —
Revenues 12,082 12,909 9,343 6,897 5,220
Operating income 4,515 4,616 4,356 3,653 2,214
Cash flow from operations 1,450 1,423 1,907 1,801 908
Net income 454 649 787 1,170 1,662

1.	R eflects carrying values on a pre-tax basis prepared in accordance with procedures and assumptions expected to be utilized to prepare the 
company’s IFRS financial statements, adjusted to reflect asset values not recognized under IFRS (see Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of financial results)

2.	I ncludes Brookfield Infrastructure special dividend of $0.94 and regular dividends of $0.51 per share

3. 	Assets under management for 2005 through 2007 reflect the combination of fair values and Canadian GAAP carrying values
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains forward-looking information within the meaning of Canadian provincial securities laws and other “forward-looking 
statements” within the meaning of certain securities laws including Section 27A of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, Section 21E of the 
U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, “safe harbor” provisions of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and 
in any applicable Canadian securities regulations. We may make such statements in this Annual Report, in other filings with Canadian regulators or 
the SEC or in other communications. The words “bodes,” “enable,” “usually,” “probably,” “objective,” “hope,” “become,” “beginning,” “often,” “seek,” 
“position,” “protect,” “coming,” “provide,” “predominantly,” “leading,” “ensure,” “increasing,” “achieve,” “strategy,” “intend,” “extend,” “projected,” 
“periodically,” “enable,” “enhance,” “maintain,” “objective,” “pursue,” “generate,” “build,” “capitalize,” “create,” “largely,” “continue,” “believe,” 
“typically,” “expect,” “potential,” “primarily,” “generally,” “anticipate,” “goal,” “might,” “estimated,” “expand,” “scheduled,” “tend,” “opportunity,” 
“likely,” “growth,” “regularly,” derivations thereof and other expressions of similar import, or the negative variations thereof, and similar expressions of 
future or conditional verbs such as “would,” “may,” “will,” “can,” “could” or “should” are predictions of or indicate future events, trends or prospects or 
identify forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report include, among others, statements with respect to: the future impact of our investments; the people 
we have attracted to our operations and the capital we have raised; our intention to focus reporting on International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) valuations instead of share price; compound risk-adjusted returns over the long-term; our expectations with respect to short-term 
underperformance of our private investment funds; the timing of our investments; our belief that acquiring assets through distress situations offers a 
way to acquire assets at meaningful discounts to their intrinsic value; growth of our distribution facilities and other similar operations at our shipping 
terminal; our view that fossil fuel prices will drive electricity prices higher over time; our 20-year Ontario power contract and future cash flows generated 
from it; our intention to re-lease an office property in San Francisco; recapitalization of property debt positions; expected increases in value of our 
multi-family apartments; global opportunities; benefits to our hydro electric power plants as carbon emissions are priced into the cost of electricity 
production; our intention to drive increased cash flows through operational improvements, organic growth and acquisitions; our predictions about the 
institutional market in 2010; our adoption of IFRS in 2010; our belief that IFRS enables the company to show cash flows and wealth created in a more 
transparent fashion; the assessment of value increase or decrease under IFRS; estimated values for assets that are not re-valued under IFRS; procedures 
and assumptions that we intend to follow in preparing our pro-forma opening balance sheet for our adoption of IFRS; accounting policies expected to 
be adopted under IFRS; income and equity statements serving as a total return statement; our view that the value of our assets increases by an amount 
equal to the capitalized value of the increase in cash flows generated by the assets; projections about the impact of a 100-basis point change to discount 
rates applied to our renewable power plants and commercial office properties; our expectation that most economic statistics will represent quarterly 
positive comparisons; the impact of the recovery of employment levels on our short cycle housing-related businesses; our primary long-term goal to 
achieve 12%-15% compound annual growth in the underlying value of our business; creating operating efficiencies; lowering our cost of capital; 
enhancing cash flows; the appeal of our assets; our goal of growing operating cash flow and total return over the longer term; our role as a reliable 
sponsor of investment transactions; how we differ from other asset management companies; investment of our capital; investments by our Special 
Situations group; future returns on our investments in undervalued opportunities; future reporting on long-term growth rates for total return; our belief 
that expansion of our infrastructure operations and allocation of third party capital to our various fund initiatives positions us well for growth; our 
expectations regarding our infrastructure business; future maturation of loans and notes receivable; periodic revaluation of the carrying values of our 
tangible assets based on fair market values resulting from our adoption of IFRS; our beliefs that fair market values will be an important indicator of 
underlying values and will enable us to report on building value on a total return basis; future investment initiatives and growth and value enhancement 
of our business; contributions from base management fees; expected completion of our wind energy project in Ontario; variances in cash flows due to 
changes in prices for power and water flows; increases in water storage levels in anticipation of future higher prices for hydroelectric power; our 
contracted renewable power generation; the purchase of approximately 15% of our expected power generation by the Ontario Power Authority; expected 
maturities of certain borrowings within our power operations; our level of assurance that rents will be paid in the future; our expectations with respect 
to our ability to roll our net rental area in the future; discussions with Bank of America/Merrill Lynch to secure advance leasing arrangements for a large 
lease maturity in 2013; our intention and ability to refinance commercial property debt and subsidiary borrowings in Australia; maturities in our North 
American operations; future cash flow growth in our retail operations; construction of a transmission project in Texas and its future contribution to 
cash flow; our expectations of our infrastructure operations to produce increasing revenue and income; debt maturities related to our infrastructure 
operations; deferring harvesting of our timberlands to allow the trees to continue to grow; development opportunities; objectives with respect to our 
opportunity investments; future profitable growth in our construction activities; future gross sales revenues in our Brazilian residential business; 
timing of the development of our land bank in Calgary, Alberta; the transfer of Bay Adelaide Centre to our operating portfolio; the projected construction 
cost of City Square in Perth, Australia and its scheduled completion; timing of the commencement of construction of our property on Ninth Avenue in 
New York City; property-specific financings; our use of options to control lots for future years in our residential development properties; residential 
property lots in Australia and New Zealand as a basis for continued growth; our intention to convert land adjacent to our Western North American 
timberlands into residential and other purpose land over time; the future gain from the sale of Concert Industries; our expectation that most of our 
investment returns from our restructuring business will be from disposition gains; restructuring opportunities; expected returns of our real estate 
financing activities; the impact of potential changes in short-term floating rates on asset returns and net corresponding liabilities in our real estate 
financing activities; other investments that will be sold in the future once value has been maximized, integrated into our core operations or used to seed 
new funds, and our expectation to continue to make such investments; our plans with respect to the continuation of the viable portions of Fraser Papers 
Inc., continued employment of certain employees and preservation of the value of our invested capital in Fraser Papers Inc.; our entitlement to royalties 
and net profit interests in our infrastructure investments in coal rights in Alberta and British Columbia; the expected commissioning a of 26 megawatt 
facility in Brazil; our expectation that commercial office transactions will be a primary area of activity for us over the next 24 months; future use of our 
liquidity as well as broader capital markets trends such as credit spreads, foreign currencies and interest rates; periodic renewal and extension of our 
corporate borrowings and scheduled expiries; future determination of our legal proceedings with AIG Financial Products; potential future tax payments 
upon liquidation of the company; our beliefs about the future benefits of our newly acquired assets, future cash flows and asset value growth, IFRS 
valuations, the next decade, our objectives when managing capital, future income tax liabilities, benefits to our rail operations in Western Australia from 
increased mining operations, values of our asset classes and their corresponding impact on share value, IFRS being a better representation of our 
financial position than historical book values, the U.S. economy and private infrastructure funding, wealth creation as measured by the increase in net 
asset value per share, volatility of the capital markets, long-term increases in demand and pricing for renewable energy, focusing on asset classes we 
know well and have experience in operating, recovery of cash flow in our timberlands and U.S. residential operations, the fair value of our land holdings; 
our ability to execute our business plans and act on potential investment opportunities and adverse economic circumstances, continue to acquire assets 
in the recovery phase of the market cycle; attract capital to our private funds, grow our global asset management business, seek returns in the form of 
equity participations or other long-term interests, increase operating cash flow per share through our asset management activities, pursue a broad 
range of transactions and expand our operating base, capitalize on opportunities, pursue investment opportunities and manage forthcoming debt 
maturities in our commercial properties business; manage our portfolios and tenant relationships on a proactive basis leading to opportunities to  
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re-lease space and minimize vacancies, secure lower short-term rates for future financings, attract new tenants to fill our vacant office property space, 
maintain or increase our net rental income in the future as well as the outlook for the company’s businesses and other statements with respect to our 
beliefs, outlooks, plans, expectations and intentions.

Although Brookfield believes that the anticipated future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements 
and information are based upon reasonable assumptions and expectations, the reader should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements 
and information because they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or 
achievements of the company to differ materially from anticipated future results, performance or achievement expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements and information.

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated or implied by forward-looking statements include: economic 
and financial conditions in the countries in which we do business; rate of recovery of the current economic downturn; the behaviour of financial 
markets, including fluctuations in interest and exchange rates; availability of equity and debt financing; strategic actions including dispositions; the 
ability to effectively integrate acquisitions into existing operations and the ability to attain expected benefits; the company’s continued ability to 
attract institutional partners to its specialty funds; adverse hydrology conditions; defaults by customers on contractual arrangements in our utilities 
infrastructure operations, future rights to easements, licenses and rights of way for land required for our transportation and utilities infrastructure 
operations, demand for our transportation operations, timber growth cycles; environmental matters; regulatory and political factors within the 
countries in which the company operates; tenant renewal rates; availability of new tenants to fill office property vacancies; tenant bankruptcies; acts 
of God, such as earthquakes and hurricanes; the possible impact of international conflicts and other developments including terrorist acts; changes in 
accounting policies to be adopted under IFRS; and other risks and factors detailed from time to time in the company’s form 40-F filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Results as well as other documents filed by the company with the 
securities regulators in Canada and the United States.

We caution that the foregoing list of important factors that may affect future results is not exhaustive. When relying on our forward-looking statements 
to make decisions with respect to Brookfield, investors and others should carefully consider the foregoing factors and other uncertainties and potential 
events. Except as may be required by law, the company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements or 
information, whether written or oral, that may be as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.


